
 

Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web: www.dartford.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Crime & Disorder 
(Overview & Scrutiny) 

Committee 
 

Councillor C S McLean (Chairman) 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE (Vice-Chairman) 

Councillor B Garden 
Councillor A Gaskin 

Councillor K J Grehan 
Councillor P M Harman 

Councillor D J Mote 
Councillor T Oliver 

 

 
 
 
 

A virtual meeting of the above Committee will be held at 1.30 p.m. on 

 
Wednesday 29 July 2020 

 

 
Strategic Director (Internal Services) 

(21 July 2020) 
 

 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 



 

 

 
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 

AGENDA 
 

Wednesday 29 July 2020 
 
 

1. Apologies For Absence   

 

 To receive any apologies of absence. 
 

 

2. Declarations of Interest   

 

 To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
term(s) of any Grants of Dispensation issued by the Audit Board or 
Strategic Director (Internal Services).   
 

 

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 12 February 
2020  

(Pages 1 - 
14) 

 

4. Urgent Items   

 

 The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda. 
 

 

5. To consider references from other Committees (if any)   

 

6. Chairman's Update   

 

7. Europol Covid Assessment  (Pages 15 
- 32) 

 

 To receive a presentation from Rob Slade, Prevent Officer (OCG), 
Kent and Essex Police. 
 

 

8. Dartford Town Against Crime (D-TAC) Annual Report (including 
Shop Safe Scheme)  

(Pages 33 
- 36) 

 

 To note the report and receive a presentation from the DTAC 
Intelligence Manager and comment accordingly. 
 

 

9. Performance  (Pages 37 
- 38) 

 



 

 

 To consider the Quarterly Performance report presented to the 
Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP), at 
their meeting on 23 July 2020 [Item A in the EXEMPT papers]. 
 

 

10. 2020 Refresh of Dartford and Gravesham CSP Community 
Safety Strategy (2019-22)   

(Pages 39 
- 58) 

 

 To consider the report and comment accordingly. 
 

 

11. Regulation 9 Notice  (Pages 59 
- 60) 

 

 To note the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 15 July 
2020 to 30 November 2020. 
 

 

12. Kent & Medway Police and Crime Panel (PCP) Update;   

 

 The PCP meetings due to be held on 18 February and 18 June 2020 
were subsequently cancelled. 
 

 

13. Committee's Annual Report for 2019-20 Municipal Year  (Pages 61 
- 112) 

 

 To note the report and Appendices (presented to the GAC on 27 July 
2020) and to comment accordingly. 
 

 

14. Review Committee's Work Plan for 2020-21 Municipal Year and 
Beyond  

(Pages 
113 - 116) 

 

 To receive a report and updated draft rolling Work Plan for the 2020-
21 municipal year and beyond (report Appendix A) and comment 
accordingly. 
 

 

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

TO RESOLVE: That, under Section 100(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended), the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following item 
of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt material.   
 

A. Dartford & Gravesham CSP Quarterly Performance Report JULY 
2020 

(Pages 
117 - 128) 

 

 



 

1 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee held on Wednesday 12 February 2020. 

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor C S McLean (Chairman) 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor B Garden 
Councillor A Gaskin 
Councillor K J Grehan 
Councillor P M Harman 
Councillor D J Mote 
Councillor T Oliver 
 

 
ABSENT: 
 

None 
 

 
 Dartford Borough Council Officers:- 

 
 Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External 

Services) 
 Tony Henley – Community Safety Manager, CSU 
 Jade Ransley – Community Safety Officer, CSU 

 
 

CABINET MEMBERS: 
 

By standing invitation: Councillor Ann Allen MBE 
(Youth, Health & Wellbeing)  and Councillor Richard 
Wells (Community Safety) and Dartford 
representative to the Kent Police & Crime Panel 
 

 
PRESENT TO RESPOND TO ISSUES RAISED BY THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 
 
 C.I. Neil Louden – Dartford & Gravesham District 

Commander, Kent Police 
 Inspector Gavin Wade – Dartford CSU and Bluewater 

Inspector, Kent Police 
 

18. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

19. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were declarations of interest. 
 

20. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 24 JULY 
2019  
 
 RESOLVED: 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 FEBRUARY 2020 
 
 

2 

 
1. That the Minutes of the Committee meeting held on 24 July 2019 be 

confirmed as accurate. 
 

21. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items for Members to consider. 
 

22. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY)  
 
There were no references from other Committees for Members to consider. 
 

23. CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE  
 
The Chairman reminded Members, particularly those new to the Committee 
who were attending proceedings for the first time, that the Committee’s 
principal role was to act as ‘critical friend’ to the Dartford & Gravesham 
Community Safety Partnership, in their work to combat crime and anti-social 
behaviour.  In practical terms, this meant developing good working 
relationships with the Council’s Community Safety Unit team, and with 
Inspector Gavin Wade and his Dartford Community Police team.  
 
His experience both as Committee Chairman, and previously as Lead 
Member for Enforcement, was that both the CSU team and Kent Police 
appreciated Members’ input on matters of particular concern to them and their 
residents. He encouraged all Members to bring their concerns to the attention 
of both teams, on an individual basis as Ward Councillors, and via the 
Committee’s meetings. 
 

24. REGULATION 9 NOTICE  
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the 
period 15 January 2020 to 31 May 2020. 

 
25. KENT POLICE AND CRIME PANEL (PCP) UPDATE  

 
Members received a verbal update from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Community Safety regarding discussion at the Kent Police and Crime Panel 
(PCP) meeting held on 6 February 2020, which he had attended in his role as 
Dartford representative. 
 
PCP Members had discussed and agreed the Police & Crime Commissioner 
(PCC’s) Plan, Associated Budget and Precept proposals for 2020/21, 
including approval of a proposed increase in the policing precept amounting to 
£10 per year or 5.2% increase in council tax on Band D properties. The 
measure would increase funding for Kent Police by an estimated £8.4M p.a. 
and be used by the PCC to:  
 

Page 2Agenda Item 3



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 FEBRUARY 2020 
 
 

3 

 Recruit 36 new PCSOs across Kent to help tackle crime in 21 
identified ‘hotspots’; 

 100 more police staff; 

 147 more police officers in year 1; 

 a further 34 police officers in year 2 (by 31 March 2021) bringing 
Kent Police officer numbers up to its highest recorded level. 

 
Panel discussion had also focussed on ‘County Lines’ activity across Kent, 
whereby young children and adolescents are directed and/or driven to other 
Counties and the Metropolis to deliver drugs. The Panel had agreed 
unanimously to support all/any measures to educate children to the dangers 
of participating in such activities, including the funding of more Youth 
Engagement officers to visit schools. 
 
The PCC had also announced a new initiative for the formation of 10 new 
Police Cadet Units in Kent for 13-17 year olds, with one Unit to be located in 
Dartford. The Police Cadet curriculum focussed on team work and leadership 
skills, and prioritised engagement with vulnerable adolescents, and those who 
had already come into contact with the criminal justice system. Cadet Units 
were run on a voluntary basis and required venues for their activities.  
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder had asked to be kept informed regarding the 
proposed Police Cadet Unit for Dartford and asked Members to consider 
possible locations in the Borough for its operation. Two initial suggestions 
from Members were Darenth Parish Council Hall and the Community Hall on 
the Tree Estate.  
 
The District Commander added that he was aware of a further PCC initiative 
for a Mini Cadet Scheme for 10-13 year olds, and hoped to provide further 
details for the Committee when they became available later in the year. 
 
In response to an expression of concern from a Member, the District 
Commander advised that proposed savings by Kent Police of some £9M 
would not impact on front-line policing. Savings would be achieved through 
improved partnership working in back-office functions across Kent, including 
economies of scale in procurement through the bulk purchasing of vehicles, 
equipment and uniforms.  
 
The Chairman and Members thanked the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for his 
verbal update and noted the contents of the Minutes of the PCP meeting on 
24 September 2019, as submitted in the agenda papers. 
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the summary of discussion provided by the 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community Safety, regarding proceedings 
at the Kent Police and Crime Panel (PCP) meeting held on 6 February 
2020, which he had attended as Dartford representative; 
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 FEBRUARY 2020 
 
 

4 

2. That Members note the contents of the published Minutes of the PCP 
meeting held on 24 September 2019 as presented in the agenda 
papers.  

 
26. PUBLIC MISUSE OF NITROUS OXIDE CANISTERS  

 
The report from the Community Safety Manager (CSM) updated Members on 
the current situation and implications, regarding the use of nitrous oxide (NO) 
as a psychoactive substance across the Borough. A map detailing ‘hotspots’ 
in Dartford where spent nitrous oxide canisters were repeatedly dumped, was 
attached as Appendix A to the report. 
 
The CSM highlighted the following principal points for Members: 
 

 Nitrous oxide (also known as laughing gas) was a substance with a 
number of legitimate uses in medicine and catering; 

 When inhaled nitrous oxide could make users feel euphoric and 
relaxed, with some users reporting hallucinations, and was used 
recreationally in a number of settings primarily amongst 16-24 year 
olds in clubs, private residences, parks and car parks; 

 Possession of nitrous oxide was not an offence, but the supply or offer 
to supply the substance to another, for other than legitimate uses was 
an offence, under Section 5 of the Psychoactive Substances Act 2016, 
but difficult to prove (see below). 

 
The CSM said that he appreciated Members’ concerns over the misuse of 
nitrous oxide as a psychoactive substance by certain sections of the public in 
Dartford. In particular, the unsightly dumping of spent nitrous oxide canisters 
which impacted significantly on the public’s perception of safety within an 
area; defined as a ‘signal’ crime - any criminal incident that causes a change 
in the public’s behaviour and/or beliefs about their security. 
 
He advised Members that the recreational misuse of nitrous oxide presented 
challenges to three main agencies: 
 

 Public Health (PH): in relation to the potentially harmful effects of the 
substance for recreational users. PH had been invited to send a 
representative to attend the proceedings to provide information on the 
number of A&E admissions that could be attributed to nitrous oxide 
ingestion. They had been unable to do so but had provided some 
general information. This possibly indicated the low level of concern PH 
held over the issue at both national and local level; 

 Police: nitrous oxide could put users at risk, but the effects of nitrous 
oxide inhalation to the person only lasted some 30 seconds, with traces 
of the substance leaving the body after 10 minutes. This made it very 
difficult for police officers to prove impairment, e.g. in relation to driving 
a motor vehicle. Possession of nitrous oxide was not an offence, and 
the offence of ‘supply or offering to supply [nitrous oxide] as a 
psychoactive substance to another person’ was difficult to prove, given 

Page 4Agenda Item 3



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 FEBRUARY 2020 
 
 

5 

that most purchases were web-based.  As a consequence, the 
response of the Police to 111 and 999 calls from the public regarding 
misuse of NO had to be prioritised against the need to deploy police 
resources to tackle crime; 

 The Council: in terms of littering through the discarding of spent NO 
canisters by misusers, seen by many communities as being associated 
with criminal activity (see ‘signal crime’ above). 

 
Given this background, the Council had identified litter enforcement as the 
most effective weapon to combat the current fashion in the recreational use of 
nitrous oxide as a psychoactive substance, and its perceived impact on the 
community. Litter enforcement measures were supplemented by the 
enforcement of the Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) in operation in 
Town Ward since October 2017, and the Council’s CCTV surveillance 
operations, including in Westgate car park, a known misuse ‘hotspot’.  
 
Detailed measures undertaken by the Council and Kent Police included: 
 

 The issuing of a fixed penalty notice (FPN) where a spent NO canister 
is seen to be discarded by Civil Enforcement Officers (including 
Kingdom officers operating on behalf of the Council), Police or Police 
and Community Support Officers. However, the modus operandi 
around the misuse of nitrous oxide [frequently by a group in or near a 
motor vehicle] was not conducive to effective enforcement and fining 
through CCTV evidence. In the period 1 January 2019 to 31 
December 2019 two fixed penalty notices for littering had been 
successfully issued in Westgate car park (£75 per fine) and 1 caution 
for the offence in the same location. A single fly-tipping FPN for a £250 
fine had been successfully issued for an offence at New Barn recycling 
point; 

 Where evidence of a litter offence is recorded on CCTV the Council’s 
environmental enforcement team will take appropriate action (e.g. no 
action, caution, fixed penalty ticket or court appearance); 

 Joint working by CSU officers and the Dartford Community Police team 
had led to the identification, mapping and monitoring of nitrous oxide 
‘hotspots’ [Appendix A to the report refers]. When dumping of spent 
NO canisters is reported by the public, prompt clearance is effected by 
the Council’s waste contractor on average, within 1.77 days of 
notification. The ‘hotspots’ had also been subjected to a poster 
campaign advising against misuse of NO and the offence of supply 
under the Act, and the penalties such behaviour would attract. 

 
Regarding enforcement of the Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) 
introduced by the Council in October 2017 for Town Ward to: prohibit the 
ingestion, inhalation, injection, smoking, processing or otherwise use of 
intoxicating substances; no prosecutions had been effected under the Act to 
date, and the issue of FPNs for the offence of littering therefore remained the 
most effective deterrent measure in the Council’s armoury.  
  

Page 5 Agenda Item 3



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 FEBRUARY 2020 
 
 

6 

The Chairman thanked the CSM for summarising his report for the Committee 
and invited Members to pose questions. 
 
In response to specific questions from Members, the CSM, the CSO, the 
District Commander and the Dartford Community Police Inspector, confirmed 
the following points for the Committee: 
 

 The position of central government on the misuse of nitrous oxide was 
not known. Case law was being employed by local authorities and 
police as appropriate, given that nitrous oxide was not classed as a 
psychoactive substance under the Act, and misuse per se was not 
therefore an offence. Prosecutions for supply or intent to supply 
[nitrous oxide] to another under the Act, remained difficult to obtain 
given the preponderance of web-based sales; 

 Asking central government to prohibitively tax the sale of nitrous oxide 
canisters [as a deterrent to misuse] would be inappropriate, given that 
misuse was not an offense and legitimate users of NO canisters e.g. 
food retailers and businesses, would be unfairly penalised; 

 PSPOs were primarily a preventative measure, enforcement and the 
securing of subsequent convictions under the terms of a PSPO were 
notoriously difficult to obtain. The positive effect of the current PSPO 
was the reduction in littering in the Town Centre, as observed by 
Kingdom officers. All NO misuse ‘hotspots’ had benefited from a poster 
campaign by the Council. A further high-profile week-end ‘blitz’ of 
‘hotspots’ by Council Enforcement officers [as proposed by a Member], 
would be expensive and would not attract PCC funding, which was 
currently targeted at violence reduction. The Cabinet Member for 
Youth, Health and Wellbeing undertook to examine the possibility of a 
contribution from her KCC Member’s Fund, to finance future activity to 
combat NO misuse; 

 Educating youngsters on the misuse of nitrous oxide was recognised 
as a key objective. The PCC’s initiative for a Police Cadet Unit in 
Dartford would help in this respect in the future. Targeting schools in 
Dartford through the Council’s promotion of National Litter Day was a 
possible intermediate measure for consideration. Dartford’s Youth 
Council was another forum in which to raise the topic, and the Cabinet 
Member undertook to add it to a future Forum agenda; 

 The publication of ‘good news’ stories relating to the effective tackling 
of nitrous oxide misuse in the Borough was acknowledged as a useful 
tool, including by social media and Twitter, in a format that Councillors 
could ‘re-tweet’ to their constituents. 

 
The Chairman asked whether the terms of the present PSPO in Town Ward 
would be reviewed, to build-in possession of nitrous oxide in a public space as 
part of its measures.  It was his understanding that some London authorities 
had updated extant PSPOs to this effect. 
 
The CSM assured the Chairman and Members that possession of NO in a 
public space was already covered in the terms of the existing PSPO. The key 

Page 6Agenda Item 3



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 FEBRUARY 2020 
 
 

7 

issue was enforcement, and the revenue to pay for enforcement measures to 
secure convictions. The current PSPO had been issued in October 2017, but 
under subsequent GDPR restrictions (May 2018), the Vehicle Licensing 
Authority was no longer permitted to provide third parties with personal details 
of vehicle owners [observed on Council CCTV cameras dumping nitrous oxide 
canisters] to enable ‘after the event’ enforcement. The Council had therefore 
concentrated its efforts on issuing fixed penalty notices (FPNs) by civil 
enforcement officers who observed littering offences being committed.  
 
The Chairman next expressed his concern that Westgate car park, a known 
‘hotspot’ for the misuse of nitrous oxide (and the dumping of spent canisters), 
would become subject to increasing levels of NO misuse during the warmer 
summer evenings.  
 
He asked whether the police officers regularly deployed in the town centre to 
deal with disorder during the hours of the night time economy, would be using 
the terms of the current PSPO as a tool to address NO misuse and any 
consequent anti-social behaviour (ASB) in Westgate car park.  
 
He also expressed concern over the admission of NO misusers into nearby 
nightclubs, and asked what responsibilities door staff at those clubs had in 
relation to refusing admission to patrons [under the licensing laws] whom they 
had observed inhaling nitrous oxide in Westgate or elsewhere. 
 
The District Commander said that he was not able to provide police resources 
to specifically target NO misuse in the Westgate car park, over the need to 
combat criminal activity taking place during the hours of the night time 
economy. 
 
The Chairman made clear that there was no expectation for the police to 
prioritise public misuse of NO, over the need to combat other serious criminal 
activities, but expressed his surprise that since its inception in 2017, the police 
had yet to secure a single enforcement action or prosecution under the terms 
of the PSPO. 
 
In response to the Chairman’s further remarks, the District Commander 
confirmed that where police officers observed misuse of NO taking place (or 
the attendant litter offence of dumping of spent NO canisters); appropriate 
police action would be taken in relation to any consequent anti-social 
behaviour (ASB). However, police patrols would not be increased or 
dedicated to combating NO misuse in Westgate car park or elsewhere in the 
town centre. 
 
The Community Safety Officer advised the Chairman that the door staff at the 
Atik nightclub [next to Westgate car park] were proactive in advising CSU staff 
of car registration plate numbers if they observed NO misuse and dumping of 
spent canisters from vehicles. 
 
The CSM and the District Commander supported the CSO in her comments 
regarding the positive cooperation of door staff at the Atik nightclub. The Club 

Page 7 Agenda Item 3



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 FEBRUARY 2020 
 
 

8 

was a member of D-TAC (Dartford Town against Crime) and as such, 
benefitted from the exchange of information with the Council’s CCTV staff, to 
combat crime in the town centre. 
  
The CSM confirmed that he could explore the possibility of putting posters in 
known NO misuse ‘hotspots’ including Westgate car park, however this would 
require additional funding, and continue to work closely with Atik staff over the 
identification of offenders in the proximity of the nightclub. The District 
Commander added for Members’ clarification, that the Police had no powers 
of search under the terms of the PSPO.    
 
The Chairman thanked the CSO, CSM and the District Commander for their 
further points of clarification for Members, but requested that the topic of NO 
misuse remain on the Committee’s Work Plan, and that a further invitation be 
issued to Public Health Kent to attend a future meeting of the Committee, to 
advise Members on the public health aspects of the misuse of nitrous oxide 
as a psychoactive substance in the community. 
 
The Strategic Director (External Services) acknowledged the Chairman’s 
request, but advised that Public Health England did not have a proactive 
position in relation to the misuse of nitrous oxide in the community. She 
commented that instances of NO misuse in Westgate car park were generally 
not associated with the Atik nightclub, as perpetrators of ASB were in the 
main, too young to gain admittance to such clubs. However, Council officers 
would relay Members’ concerns to the Atik, as part of their ongoing positive 
relationship with the club. 
 
She added that gating Westgate car park or closing it overnight were not 
options open to the Council as it was utilised by nearby residents for overnight 
parking, and also benefitted from an electric car charging point. 
 

 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That Members note the contents of the report; 

 
2. That the topic of ‘public misuse of nitrous oxide as a psychoactive 

substance’ remain on the Council’s rolling Work Plan for 2020/21 and 
beyond; 
 

3. That a further invitation be issued to Public Health Kent to attend a 
future meeting of the Committee to brief Members on the health 
implications of NO misuse.  
    

 
27. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  

 
In accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended), the Committee went into closed session to consider the contents 
of the CSP’s Strategic Assessment 2019 document [EXEMP Item A], which 
had been provided to the Committee on an ‘In-Confidence’ basis. 

Page 8Agenda Item 3



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 FEBRUARY 2020 
 
 

9 

 
It was confirmed that no members of the press or public were present.  
 

28. DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP 
(CSP) STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2019  
 
The covering report from the Community Safety Manager (CSM) asked 
Members to note the priorities identified in the SA 2019 document as adopted 
by the CSP at their meeting on 16 January 2020, and their incorporation into 
the Partnership’s Community Safety Plan (2019-2022) at that meeting. 
 
In addition to the agenda papers Members received a PowerPoint 
presentation from the CSM which summarised the key elements of the 
comprehensive SA 2019 document, including details of comparative 
performance between the two Boroughs across a range of crime-types on an 
annual basis, and how those performances compared to that of the County as 
a whole. 
  
The CSM informed Members that earlier changes to crime categories 
introduced by the Home Office had now been in force for some 24 months, 
and that an annual comparative performance exercise was now relevant and 
worthwhile.  It was not yet possible to say that the data for the 12 month 
period under review (1 October 2018 to 30 September 2019) had identified 
definite trends in crime categories, but the data had indicated ‘spikes’ in 
certain crime-types. Further annual comparison exercises would be required 
to establish whether present ‘’spikes’ in certain crimes had developed into 
trends. 
 
The presentation summarised the 2019 SA document under the following 
categories: 
 
Key Priorities 
 

 Tacking Violent Crime including Domestic Abuse (DA) 

 Tackling Persistent Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) and Environmental 
Crime 

 Preventing Offending and Reducing Re-offending 

 Protecting Vulnerable People and Strengthening Communities 
 
Performance Summary  
 
Members were referred to comparative tables in the presentation which 
summarised Performance in each Borough and Kent as a whole, under 12 
key crime-types on an annual basis. Changes in performance for each 
Borough and the County were indicated by green, red or blue arrows which 
represented an improvement, deterioration or no change in performance 
respectively, for each crime-type. The CSM and District Commander 
explained the data and context for Members information. 
 

Page 9 Agenda Item 3



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 FEBRUARY 2020 
 
 

10 

A SWOT [Strength, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats] analysis 
was provided to Members based on the data that was recorded within the 
2019 Strategic Assessment process.  
 
Recommendations 
 
The recommendations outlined within the Strategic Assessment 2019 
document would be incorporated into the CSP’s Community Safety Strategy 
2019-2021. 
 
The CSM and the District Commander added the following comments of detail 
in relation to specific crime-types and areas of CSP operation in relation to 
Dartford: 
 
Burglary Residential: This crime-trend had experienced a rise in reported 
incidents in Dartford in the period under review, following the re-categorisation 
of garages, sheds and outhouses as ‘dwellings’. Dartford was in a uniquely 
vulnerable position for cross-border crime from Essex and the Metropolis. Co-
operation with Essex and the Met police forces had intensified to deal with the 
high negative impact of this crime on victims, as part of the Chief Constable’s 
Kent Control Strategy. A further Chief Constable initiative had been the setting 
up of North, West and East Kent detective teams of highly experienced 
officers who had made a series of key arrests.  
 
Theft from Vehicles: A ‘spike’ in the theft of tools from vehicles had been 
identified in the 2019 SA but on the evidence of only 12 months data it was 
too early to label it as a crime trend. Preventative measures included advising 
the public to purchase ‘Smartwater’ driver packs to help deter criminals. 
 
Domestic Abuse (DA): Combating the rise in incidents of DA was a Kent 
Police Force priority. Positive measures being taken included; better 
education of victims/potential victims, and increasing awareness of DA and 
the surrounding issues leading to the crime. Victim reluctance, and the 
subsequent withdrawal of complaints by victims when made, remained issues 
that made prosecution difficult, despite good ongoing work being undertaken 
by the Vulnerability Investment Team (VIT). Prosecutions were victim-
focussed and based on evidential assessment despite victims withdrawing 
statements, and arrests for DA had risen. In cases were prosecutions were 
not secured, victims were sign-posted to available support services, including 
DA advisors working in police stations ‘out of hours’ to help victims on a 24 
hour basis. 
 
Shoplifting: Measures to combat this crime in Dartford under the D-TAC 
(Dartford Town against Crime) Scheme had been successful in the period 
under review. Initiatives by the new DTAC Intelligence Manager had had a 
significant impact, supported by the deployment of 2 dedicated PCs in the 
Town Centre, which had helped to achieve the highest monthly arrest rate on 
record. 
 

Page 10Agenda Item 3



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 FEBRUARY 2020 
 
 

11 

Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB): Improved use of CPNs and CPWs had been 
costly, but effective.  
 
Strengths 
 
The funding of the Dartford CSU operation by the Council was key to its 
stability. The provision of some PCC funding of the Council’s CCTV system 
had also been a significant success and provided real gains and tangible 
outcomes. Funding for VAWG (Violence Against Women and Girls) had also 
produced positive outcomes and enabled enhanced inter-action between 
Dartford and Gravesham in this field.  
 
The Vulnerable and Organised Crime Fora had proved to be a good enabling 
structure for effective partnership working between the Dartford CSU, Kent 
Police, Social Services, Health and Housing providers, as well as the DWP. 
The Dartford Environmental Enforcement team had also been effective in the 
period under review and benefitted from attending the daily CSU briefing 
meetings. 
 
Meetings to tackle cross-border and gang-related crime were held on a 
quarterly basis and attended by Dartford’s Community Safety Officer,  
together with representatives from Gravesham CSU, Kent and Met Police 
Forces and four adjacent London boroughs. 
 
Data Analysis 
 
The lack of Ward-based crime-trend data and data regarding Bluewater were 
significant weakness in the present data gathering system which Kent Police 
were addressing.  
 
Performance 
 
MARAC (Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference) performance in Dartford 
was gauged by the number of repeat victims of DA who sought help. There 
had been an increase in the number of repeat victim in the period under 
review compared to 2018, but there had also been an increase in DA cases 
overall. It was seen as a positive that victims of DA continued to seek the 
support of MARAC services. If the present trend in repeat victims continued to 
rise, the MARAC measures for Dartford would be re-assessed.  
 
Long Term Funding  
 
Funding for VAWG was coming to end. Revenue for the Migration Fund was 
set to continue, to enable better understanding of the Borough’s growth rate 
and changing population. PCC funding had also been secured for 2021 to 
fund existing CSP priorities.  
 
Opportunities 
 

Page 11 Agenda Item 3



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 FEBRUARY 2020 
 
 

12 

Further insights and positive outcomes were expected to be derived from the 
above projects, and cross-border co-operation continued to expand and 
produce significant results. The CSP as a 2 borough model continued to 
benefit from joint training and working. 
 
In concluding his comments to Members, the CSM paid tribute to the 
contribution made by the CSO in helping to compile the comprehensive 2019 
Strategic Assessment document, the identification of its key priorities, and the 
incorporation of its recommendations into the CSP’s Community Safety Plan 
(2019-2022). 
 
In response to subsequent questions and expressions of concern from the 
Chairman and Members, the CSM, the CSO, the District Commander and the 
Community Police Inspector, confirmed the following points: 
 

 The police were governed by postcodes in their reporting of crime, on 
occasion this could mean that an offence committed in e.g. Stone was 
categorised as being committed in Greenhithe; 

 The police accepted the need to improve communications with 
residents regarding crime-trends, and appreciated the benefit of 
reporting ‘good news’ stories regarding crime prevention, solving and 
prosecutions; but were constrained by staff resources, only 1 press 
officer for both Dartford and Gravesham, and the added factor that it 
was difficult to get the media to take ‘good news’ stories; 

 Increased use of Twitter, Facebook and other social media would be 
considered, especially to Councillors for re-tweeting to residents, also 
increased distribution via the Neighbourhood Watch schemes; 

 The request for 2 new PCSOs for Ebbsfleet would be considered by 
the new Superintendent for North Division and the outcome advised to 
the Ward Councillors; 

 Allocating further police resources to Dartford as whole, would be 
considered by Kent Police’s Tactical Operations team in the context of 
the recruitment of an addition 36 PCSOs and 147 police officers for 
Kent announced by the PCC in his 2020/21 Plan [Min. No 25 refers]. 
The immediate priority was the recruitment and training of additional 
police officers who were warranted and had powers of arrest. In the 
interim, the District Commander was able to make monthly bids for 
increased PCSO resources on an ad-hoc basis. Police patrols had 
been increased around the town centre between December 2019 and 
February 2020 in a concerted effort to combat crime. Co-operation 
with the Council’s CCTV team had helped to secure arrests; 

 A joint initiative with British Transport Police and the Met and Essex 
forces had been undertaken by Kent police to combat crime at 
Dartford railway station and in the town centre by criminals commuting 
into the Borough; 

 The Council’s decision to retain an in-house CCTV operation had paid 
significant dividends in terms of a high quality operation, with highly 
trained staff attuned to Dartford’s needs, with the skills to interpret and 
anticipate criminal behaviour, which allowed council and police 

Page 12Agenda Item 3



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 FEBRUARY 2020 
 
 

13 

resources to be deployed to maximum effect. The need for further 
CCTV installation across the Borough was not anticipated at this time; 

 Funding for DA projects was coming to the end of a 3 year cycle. 
Gravesham had benefited from special funding for DA not available to 
Dartford, but Dartford benefited from joint DA working practices 
between the two boroughs, including an annual publicity campaign 
aimed at educating the public to the dangers of DA. Members 
proposed that a future campaign be undertaken in Dartford schools to 
educate children to the warning signs of DA and how to seek help; 

 The increase in deliberate fires in the Borough in the period under 
review had been in the Dartford Heath area. Shop owners in the area 
were being educated over the dangers of selling matches to children 
and younger adolescents. Perpetrators had been identified and dealt 
with; 

 The spate of thefts of catalytic converters from motor vehicles in the 
period under review had occurred primarily in Bluewater, but also in 
the town centre. The offence could be committed in a matter of 
minutes, making offenders difficult to recognise and prosecute. CID 
reviewed this crime on a daily basis to identify patterns and trends, 
identify offenders and make arrests, and this crime type was now 
significantly reduced. 

 
In concluding the debate, the Chairman asked that the Committee’s 
concerns regarding the need for increased communication between Kent 
Police and residents be raised with the PCC [given the funding 
implications], noted the positive aspect of increased reporting of DA and 
increased measures proposed to further educate the public to the dangers 
of DA including a programme for schools, and the thanked the CSM and 
the CSO for producing an excellent 2019 Strategic Assessment 
document. 

 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the contents of the Dartford and Gravesham 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP’s) Strategic Assessment 2019 
document, presented as Item A in the EXEMPT agenda papers; 
 

2. That Members note the priorities identified in the Strategic Assessment 
(SA) 2019 document agreed by the CSP at their meeting on 16 
January 2020; 
 

3. That Members note the CSP’s decision to adopt the recommendations 
contained within SA 2019 into the CSP’s Community Safety Plan 
(2019-2022). 

 
29. COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2020-21 AND BEYOND  

 
Proceedings resumed in open session to consider the report from the 
Committee’s co-ordinating officer which enclosed at Appendix A, an updated 

Page 13 Agenda Item 3



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 FEBRUARY 2020 
 
 

14 

Work Plan for the remainder of the 2019-20 municipal year and beyond, as 
requested by Members in July 2019 [Min. No 17 refers]. 
 
Members noted the contents of the revised Work Plan document and 
discussed further topics for possible consideration by the Committee at future 
meetings including: 
 

 An update on agency measures being taken to combat telephone and 
other fraud suffered by elderly and vulnerable residents [considered by 
the Committee in February 2019 – Min. No 23 of 2018/19 refers]; 

 An update on measures being taken by enforcement agencies to 
combat ‘County Lines’ activity by organised criminal gangs [considered 
by the Committee in February 2019 - Min. No 25 refers]; 

 A possible presentation from Public Health Kent on the health 
implications of the inhalation of nitrous oxide [Min. No 26 above refers]. 

 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the contents of the updated Work Plan for 2020-21 
attached as Appendix A to the report; 
 

2. That the Work Plan be further updated to include details of subsequent 
Member discussion on 12 February 2020 as minuted above. 

 
 

 
The meeting closed at 9.20 pm 

 
  

 
 

Councillor C S McLean 
CHAIRMAN 

 
 

Page 14Agenda Item 3



Insert coffee shop video here

Summary of Europol Covid -19 

Assessment

Rob Slade Prevent Officer [OCG] 

Reference: Sarah Gibbons Policing Insight
https://policinginsight.com/features/analysis/beyond-pandemic-serious-organised-landscape-eu/

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 7



Assessment – Three Distinct Phases

• Phase 1 – Current Situation –Lockdown

• Phase 2 – Mid – Term. Easing of 

lockdown 

• Phase 3 – Long – Term Impact – post 

lockdown. 

P
age 16

A
genda Item

 7



• Sharp increase in cybercrime – reliance on digital and online solutions 

during the lockdown to work remotely/ maintain contact with colleagues, 

friends and family.

• Cybercriminals actively recruiting collaborators to orchestrate large scale 

phishing campaigns and maximise the impact of their attacks.

• Cybercriminals shortened the period between the initial infection with 

ransomware and demanding the ransom.

• There has been an increase in activities related to the distribution of child 

abuse material online more vulnerability of children online due to 

isolation, less supervision and greater online exposure.

• Individuals successfully launching cyberattacks were generally active pre-

pandemic but have been joined by ‘opportunists with limited technical 

knowledge’.

• An initial surge in cybercrime during March and the first week of April has 

been followed by a relative decrease towards the end of April. 

• Another ‘highly visible phenomenon’ has been widespread scams 

promoting fake COVID-19 test kits and treatments.

Lockdown Phase 

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 7



Mid term Outlook

An easing of lockdown measures is set to 

see criminal activity return to previous 

levels and crime types as before the 

pandemic although new opportunities 

created by the pandemic will be exploited 

beyond the end of the crisis.

P
age 18

A
genda Item

 7



CYBER 

• Cybercrime threats are set to continue as the main 

threat as reliance on digital services continue.

• The current focus on the distribution of malware and 

ransomware on targeting particularly affected sectors 

such as healthcare and education may shift back to 

general businesses as they reopen physically or expand 

online.

• Child sexual exploitation online will remain a 

‘significant threat’ while children spend long periods 

online due to education or social activity and the 

report calls for close monitoring and the 

implementation of prevention measures.

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 7



Counterfeit and substandard goods

• Criminals have exploited the crisis to exploit shortages of genuine 

healthcare products and people’s fears around the virus to offer fake 

testing kits, face masks and other PPE.

• The trade of counterfeit and substandard goods in this area ‘has boomed 

during the pandemic’ and looks likely to continue while demand for such 

key products remains high – especially if wearing face masks becomes 

mandatory.

• While there is ongoing international research to find a COVID-19 cure, 

fraudsters are offering fake options online. When a genuine product is 

identified, scammers are expected to turn to ineffective counterfeits.

• The pandemic has led to a notable increase in the output of medical and 

sanitary waste and the report notes that trafficking and inadequate 

disposal of medical and sanitary waste is a significant crime risk, both in 

terms of generating proceeds for the criminals involved in this activity 

and the potential associated harm to public health.

P
age 20

A
genda Item

 7



The economy and financial crime

• Anti-money laundering (AML) regulators and professionals in the 

sector must be vigilant and expect attempts by OCGs to exploit a 

volatile economic situation to launder money using the on-shore 

financial system.

• EU-based OCGs could shift their money-laundering operations to 

non-EU countries with weaker AML frameworks.

• A recession in the EU may lead to a reduction in property prices 

which lends itself to the investment of criminal profits.

• ‘Overall, economic developments as the result of the pandemic 

will be a key factor in determining the changing picture of the 

serious and organised crime landscape in the EU and whether 

organised crime stands to make long-term gains from the 

pandemic.’

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 7



Drugs

• Little mid- to long-term impact on the trade of illegal 

drugs is anticipated. Cancellation of many outdoor 

festivals and events that typically feature the 

consumption of MDMA and similar substances may 

result in a notable drop in demand for these types of 

drugs in the mid-term although levels are likely to 

stabilise longer term.

• The trafficking of cannabis, cocaine, and heroin has 

continued throughout the pandemic, although less 

than before, and regular supply is expected post-

lockdown.

P
age 22

A
genda Item

 7



Modern Slavering Human Trafficking 

• Flows reduced during the lockdown but more 

freedom of movement is likely to increase numbers 

of illegal migrants, potentially with an increase in 

vehicle concealments with fewer migrants per trip 

and staying in more safe houses to reduce possible 

virus contagion levels.

• Economic instability resulting from the pandemic in 

some African economies could trigger more migration 

which ‘needs to be carefully monitored’.

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 7



Phase Three the Long Term Impact 

• An overall shift to non-cash payment options is expected and this 

will have an impact on criminal businesses.

• Economic hardship makes people more receptive to cheaper 

counterfeit goods or recruitment to engage in criminal activity.

• Some of the most threatening OCGs, such as mafia-type OCGs, 

are likely to recruit more vulnerable young people, engaging in 

crimes such as loan-sharking, extortion and county lines. 

• Economic crises often result in increased susceptibility to 

corruption by individuals in key positions in the public sector, 

especially in countries where large salary cuts occur. 

Employment situations may also make spurious investment 

opportunities more attractive, potentially enlarging the pool of 

potential fraud victims.

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 7



Cyber Crime 

• Cybercrime activity is unlikely to diminish and new 

cyber threats that have emerged during the pandemic 

will continue after the crisis ends.

• Increased use of online communications will persist 

and cybercriminals will adapt or devise new attacks.

• The lifting of lockdown measures may result in an 

increase in the number of reports of child abuse as 

law enforcement authorities are notified.

• Criminals are more able to create fake IDs and 

companies online than offline.

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 7



Modern Slavering Human Trafficking 

• Migrant smuggling networks are likely to increase 

their activities with a global economic crisis likely to 

serve as a driver for irregular migrants originating 

from source countries that are ‘economically less 

resilient’, such as in Africa, and generating ‘significant 

profit’ for OCGs.

• Any subsequent recession could trigger an increased 

demand for labour and sexual exploitation and a 

potential increase in intra-EU trafficking of victims 

with areas such as prostitution, begging and theft, 

textile and agricultural sectors, construction, tourism, 

catering, nursing and domestic services affected.

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 7



Counterfeit and substandard goods

• A recession may prompt demand for cheaper 

consumer goods with OCGs stepping in to offer 

counterfeit or substandard alternatives. Reduced 

consumer spending power could lead counterfeiters 

to expand into further product lines.

• High demand and scare supply of key goods such as 

healthcare PPE is driving significant levels of criminal 

activity in areas including counterfeit and substandard 

goods, organised property crime and fraud.

• Cashless options are increasingly popular payment 

methods.

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 7



Organised property crime

• The lifting of lockdown measures may see an 

increase in burglaries and new forms of the ‘nephew 

trick’ tailored to the pandemic may remain in use as 

modi operandi ‘for some time’.

• Hospitals, pharmacies and other healthcare 

providers will continue to be targeted with illicit 

supplies while demand for PPE remains high.

• Organised property crime could be stimulated by a 

global recession exacerbating economic disparity 

between Member States and between the EU and 

neighbouring countries.

P
age 28

A
genda Item

 7



Economic and financial crime
• Previous economic crises have resulted in an increase in the number of 

incidents related to bank and loan fraud, money laundering and 

corruption.

• The property and construction sectors will become even more attractive 

for money laundering, along with investment in artworks may also be 

attractive due to the absence of fixed prices.

• Criminals will continue to abuse financial markets to layer and integrate 

criminal proceeds.

• Criminals are likely to intensify their use of shell companies and 

companies based in off-shore jurisdictions with weak anti-money 

laundering policies.

• Companies involved in importing/exporting goods may be increasingly 

used for the virtual importation of goods using fraudulent documents.

• Key factors with an impact on crime during and after the pandemic

• Criminals have quickly exploited established legal business structures to 

orchestrate supply and fraud schemes, the distribution of counterfeit 

goods and money laundering during the pandemic.

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 7



Economic downturn 1

• Any subsequent recession will see OCGs increasingly infiltrate 

economically weakened communities portraying themselves as 

providers of work and services with rising unemployment levels 

and reductions in investment.

• Individuals and organisations could be more vulnerable to 

compromise.

• Increased ‘social tolerance’ for counterfeit goods and labour 

exploitation could lead to higher levels of organised crime 

infiltration and illegal activity accounting for a larger share of 

GDP.

• Levels of human trafficking and organised property crime within 

the EU may increase.

• While the increase in digital technology use has undoubtedly 

created a larger attack surface for cybercriminals, it has also 

presented additional opportunities for law enforcement to 

engage in more effective policing

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 7



Economic downturn 2

• The report concludes: ‘The proliferation and ubiquity of the 

internet promise to hold the key to a quantum leap in policing 

but also challenges law enforcement to develop the technical 

solutions, recruit the expertise and make available the financial 

resources necessary to fully exploit these opportunities.

• ‘The rise of big data and the emergence of the Internet of 

Everything will provide invaluable opportunities for law 

enforcement in developing investigations, identifying and 

targeting suspects. With an anticipated shift in organised crime 

activity to the virtual realm in the coming decades, law 

enforcement must develop inter-disciplinary synergies with 

partners globally and across sectors.’

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 32



 
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 

29th July 2020 
 

DARTFORD TOWN AGAINST CRIME (D-TAC) PROGRESS REPORT- 
JULY 2019- JULY 2020) 

 

 
1. Summary 

 

1. To consider the Dartford Town against Crime’s scheme’s progress during the 
past 12 months (1st July 2019 to 30th June 2020).  

 
2. RECOMMENDATION  

 
That the Dartford Against Crime’s achievements in the period 1 July 2019 to 
30th June 2020, be noted. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1 Dartford Against Crime (D-TAC) promotes the concept of a safe and 
secure Town Centre, and enables partners to adopt a proactive 
approach by allowing them to identify, target and focus on the most 
serious, prolific and professional criminals as well as those offenders 
who are engaging in petty crime and anti-social behaviour that 
nonetheless affects the local environment. 

 
3.2 D-TAC is a sub-group of both the Dartford Town Centre Partnership and 

the Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership.  However, 
the initiative has robust, independent governance with a formal 
constitution, terms of reference, a Board of Management and an active 
Steering Group. The DTAC Intelligence Manager co-ordinates the 
dissemination of information and promotes activity that will result in 
action being taken against persistent offenders. 

 
This network of partners also facilitates: 

 

 preventing and detecting crime and public disorder; 

 targeting persistent offenders who are responsible for the majority 
of crime; 

 reducing the opportunity to commit crime; 

 assisting the apprehension and prosecution of offenders; 

 reducing retail crime losses for members; 

 creating a “safe and secure” environment for customers and staff; 

 reducing the fear of crime amongst the general public; 

 encouraging growth and investment in the town centre; 
 

   
3.3 An important element of DTAC is the “Shop Safe Stay Safe ID Scheme”. 

The scheme gives vulnerable people a temporary place to go if they are 
feeling confused, scared or upset or facing emergency when out and 
about in the town centre. Vulnerable people can include those who have 
a learning or physical disability, have an illness or severe medical 

Page 33 Agenda Item 8



 
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 

29th July 2020 
 

condition or are feeling lost or confused. Over the past 12 months the 
scheme has been overhauled in order to ensure it is compliant with the 
General Data Protection Regulations and has recently ben relaunched. 

 
3.4  The DTAC Intelligence manager will be providing Members with a 

presentation that outlines the achievements and challenges of both 
Schemes over  the last 12 months as well as looking forward to the 
opportunities that the regeneration of the Town Centre is presenting to 
the Partnership.  

 
 
 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

Safer Communities – To create a safer Borough in which to live, work 
and socialise. SC2 – Reduce anti-social behaviour.  

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments* 
 
 

Financial Implications None arising from this report 

Legal Implications None arising from this report 

Staffing Implications None arising from this report 

Administrative 
Implications 

None arising from this report 

Risk Assessment Any reduction or withdrawal of service would 
have a negative impact on crime and disorder 
within the Borough. 

 
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
Not applicable 
 
7. Appendices 
 
 None  

Page 34Agenda Item 8



 
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 

29th July 2020 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
 July 2020 Tony Henley 

(01322) 343502 
EARS N/A 

 

Page 35 Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 36



 
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 

COMMITTEE 
29 July 2020 

 
COMMUNITY SAFETY PERFORMANCE REPORT (JULY 2020) 

 

 
1. SUMMARY 

 
To note the Quarterly Performance Report produced by the Dartford & Gravesham 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP). 
        
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

That the Committee notes the Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership’s 
Quarterly Performance Report (July 2020), detailing performance in relation to levels of 
crime, anti-social behaviour and other indicators (EXEMPT agenda item A refers).   
 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1 The Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership’s (CSP) 
Performance Report - July 2020 (Item A EXEMPT papers) details 
performance in relation to levels of crime & disorder and anti-social 
behaviour recorded in the boroughs of Dartford and Gravesham.  The 
Performance Report was discussed by the CSP on 16th July 2020. 

 
3.2 This report considers the CSP’s performance within the context of the 

COVID 19 outbreak. It has therefore changed the reporting periods to 
enable comparison of “year on year” rather than “rolling year” data in 
order to better benchmark the effect of the pandemic. It also highlights 
the way the Community Safety Unit has changed its priorities in order to 
support the Authority’s humanitarian response as well as reconfigure its 
operational model to maintain effective partnership working. The 
challenge has been significant, but not without some benefits which are 
likely to present new opportunities for partnership working once the 
pandemic is fully under control 

 
 
3.3 Members are invited to note the Quarterly Performance Report.  

Representatives of the CSU and Kent Police will be available to respond 
to Members’ questions. 

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

Safer Communities – To create a safer Borough in which to live, work 
and socialise. SC2 – Reduce anti-social behaviour.  

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Page 37 Agenda Item 9



 
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 

COMMITTEE 
29 July 2020 

 

Financial Implications None arising from this report 

Legal Implications None specifically 

Staffing Implications None arising from this report 

Administrative 
Implications 

None arising from this report 

Risk Assessment Any reduction or withdrawal of service would 
have a negative impact on crime and disorder 
within the Borough. 

  
6. Obligation of Confidence 
 

An obligation of confidence arises in relation to the Performance Report 
document in that the data was provided to the Council on an ‘In-
Confidence’ basis.  Appendix A will therefore be considered in the 
EXEMPT part of the agenda marked as Item A. 
 
 

7. Appendices  
 

Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership’s Quarterly 
Performance Report (July 2020) –Appendix A [Item A EXEMPT 
papers]. 
 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents consulted Date / 

File Ref 
Report Author Section and 

Directorate 
Exempt 

Information 
Category 

 
CSP Performance Report  
July 2020. 

July2020 Tony Henley, 
Community Safety 
Manager 

EARS 
Strategic 
(ES) 

Obligation 
of 

Confidence 
 

     

Page 38Agenda Item 9



 
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 

COMMITTEE 
29th July 2020 

 
2020 REFRESH TO COMMUNITY SAFETY STRATEGY (2019-22) 

 

 
1. Summary 

 
To present the refreshed Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Strategy 2019-
2022. 
        
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Committee considers and comments accordingly, on the Dartford and 
Gravesham Community Safety Strategy 2019 – 2022, at Appendix A to the report. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1 Legislation requires each Community Safety Partnership (CSP) to 
produce a Crime and Disorder Strategy which runs for 3 years with an 
annual refresh in the intervening period.  The Community Safety 
Strategy guides the work of all CSP partner agencies and ensures that 
the focus on the CSP’s agreed priorities is maintained. 

 
3.2 The Committee, at its meeting in February 2020 [Min.No.28], considered 

the CSP‘s Strategic Assessment 2019. This Strategic Assessment 
provided the information and analysis of data that was used to assess 
whether the Crime and Disorder Strategy (2019-2022) stated priorities 
remain current. 

  
3.3 The assessment was considered at the Crime and Disorder Partnership 

meeting of 16th January 2020 and the recommendation that the priorities 
contained within the Community Safety Strategy for the period 2019 – 
2022 remain unchanged was accepted.  

 
3.4 Whilst accepting that the priorities remain unchanged, the Community 

Partnership also accepted recommendations within the Strategic 
Assessment that, if achieved, would support the delivery of the stated 
priorities. 

 
3.5 The agreed recommendations were; 

• General 
o Crime Data be made available at Ward Level 
o Maintain Governance Structures 

• Violence Crime and Domestic Abuse 
o Understand disparity  between MARAC and Violent Crime 

performance 
 
 

• Persistent Anti-Social Behaviour and Environmental Crime 

Page 39 Agenda Item 10



 
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 

COMMITTEE 
29th July 2020 

 
o Understand performance disparity between ASB 

performance 
• Preventing Offending and Reducing Re-Offending 

o Establish close working relationship with Violence 
Reduction Unit 

• Protecting Vulnerable People 
o Continuing to develop an understanding of the impact of 

the changing demography across the CSP area. 
Whilst progress against these recommendations has been impeded by 
the pandemic, the CSU Manager will provide a verbal update to 
Members on the progress that has been made. 

 
3.6 Members are invited to consider the Community Safety Strategy 2019-

2022 (Refresh) and comment accordingly.  Officers and 
representatives of Kent Police will be available to respond to Members’ 
questions. 

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 

 
Safer Communities – To create a safer Borough in which to live, work 
and socialise.  SC2 – Reduce anti-social behaviour. 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications None arising from this report 

Legal Implications None specifically 

Staffing Implications None arising from this report 

Administrative 
Implications 

None arising from this report 

Risk Assessment Any reduction or withdrawal of service would 
have a negative impact on crime and disorder 
within the Borough. 

  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable 
 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A: Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Strategy 
2019 – 2022. 
 
 

 
 

Page 40Agenda Item 10



 
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 

COMMITTEE 
29th July 2020 

 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
 July 2020 Tony Henley 

(01322 343502)  
 
 

EARS 
Strategic 
(ES) 
 
 

N/A 

   

Page 41 Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 42



Dartford and 
Gravesham 
Community Safety 
Strategy 

2019-

2022 

Produced by Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership 

Page 43 Agenda Item 10



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Introduction 
Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) is made up of statutory agencies brought 
together under a shared responsibility placed upon them by the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. The Act has 
been amended over the years since its introduction to include responsibilities to not only reduce crime but 
to tackle anti-social behaviour (ASB), recognising that this can have a considerable impact on local 
communities, and to lessen the reoffending of those who repeatedly commit crime. 

Key statutory partners have all faced reductions in expenditure and resources at a time when statutory 
requirements placed on Partnerships have increased and the community safety landscape is changing.  
Certain strands of criminal activity that have become national are challenging but the Partnership will aim to 
extend its joint working to bring in the relevant expertise and skills to help us tackle them, as well as 
addressing our local priorities. We will ensure that our progress is monitored closely throughout the life of 
this strategy, with a full review at the end of each year to enable us to respond appropriately and effectively 
to changing circumstances. 

Our Partnership 
Dartford and Gravesham CSP has a strong track record of achievement in reducing crime and ASB and 
improving community safety locally. This has only been possible because of the excellent working 
relationship between the specified authorities that make up the Partnership. Currently these are: 

 Kent County Council;

 Dartford Borough Council;

 Gravesham Borough Council;

 Kent Police;

 Kent Fire and Rescue Service;

 Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group;

 Kent Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company;

 Office of the Kent Police and Crime Commissioner.

These agencies all have a statutory duty to work together to tackle crime and disorder however, very 
significant contributions are made to Partnership activities by a host of voluntary and private sector groups, 
charitable organisations and local community groups, without which our ability to tackle community safety 
priorities would be much more restricted. Each year the CSP has a legal duty to complete a Strategic 
Assessment of the levels of crime and ASB being experienced in our two Boroughs. The purpose of the 
Assessment is to: 

 determine whether priorities remain the same or whether there are new priorities to address;

 highlight performance, progress and achievements against commitments made in the previous
Community Safety Plan; and,

 identify key crime, disorder and ASB risks and threats to our local communities.

As part of moving forward and developing a new Community Safety Strategy, the Partnership has also taken 
the opportunity to look back at recent successes which have laid the foundation for a number of initiatives, 
some of which will need to continue to be developed over the next few years. The following highlights some 
of our most recent key successes. 

2 

Page 44Agenda Item 10



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Key Partnership Successes 

Violent Crime and Domestic Abuse 

 Funding (£248,242 over 3 years to March 2020) secured from the Home Office Violence Against
Women and Girls (VAWG) Transformation Fund to deliver the Altogether Safer Project across
Dartford and Gravesham establishing an Out of Hours IDVA Service at North Kent Police Station;
delivering the Choose Respect Programme to boys and young men aged 11-18 years and working
with BAME and hard to reach victims to encourage accessing of services.

 Secured £137,880 from the MHCLG Domestic Abuse Services Fund to run the Step Change Project
(from early 2019) to provide intensive, wrap-around the family support to victims of domestic abuse
with complex needs and for 1:1 and group support for their children.

 Targeted work through each Borough’s multi-agency Vulnerability Forums to assist individuals with
complex needs who are particularly vulnerable to safeguard them from harm and support them in
accessing treatment services and accommodation.

 Making full use of both permanent and rapid deployment CCTV camera systems in town centres to
deter ASB and more serious offending behaviour, capture evidence and improve public safety.

 Established local multi-agency Serious Youth Violence and Exploitation Groups to develop effective
plans to provide interventions for young people identified as being involved or at risk of involvement
in criminal activity.

Anti Social Behaviour (incorporating criminal damage related to ASB) 

 Joint work between Dartford CSU and Kent Police to tackle ASB associated with street drinking to
encourage individuals into treatment and support services.

 Operation Ransom (Dartford) to address ASB caused by nuisance bikes through intelligence
gathering to identify the riders, messaging highlighting offences and impact on local communities
and through education delivered by the Youth Engagement PCSO.

 Support provided to the countywide operations and successful multi-agency action in Dartford to
address fly-tipping and environmental issues, targeting and using formal action against offenders.

 Creation of a Safer Place Officer Team based within Gravesham CSU to provide a visible uniformed
presence in the town centre, enforce the conditions of Gravesham’s Public Space Protection Order,
issue fines for littering and dog fouling and signpost homeless people to services.

 Interventions and enforcement action targeting adults and young people engaging in ASB to help
change and reduce the impact of their behaviour.

 Raising awareness of the dangers of fire raising and delivering fire safety messages.

Acquisitive and Property Crime 

 Delivery of seasonal initiatives raising awareness and providing advice to the public on steps to take
to reduce the risk of burglary/guard against shed and garage breaks, motor vehicle crime and theft
e.g. Christmas Safety Shop, Safer Summer Campaigns.

 Use of G-Safe Exclusion Orders and D-TAC Community Protection Warning letters/Notices to deter
persistent shoplifters from entering member premises and ensuring that there is good
communication between both our Schemes and with other Schemes in the county to tackle cross-
border offending.

 Joint work with KCC Wardens and Trading Standards to engage with and raise awareness of
residents/communities in areas where issues such as scams and distraction burglary are more
prevalent (e.g. elderly residents, residents affected by thefts of Asian gold).

Substance Misuse 

 Joint Police and Council Licensing Team visits to licensed premises in both Dartford and Gravesham
to ensure adherence to licensing conditions and to encourage the responsible sale of alcohol.

 Referral of vulnerable individuals at risk of exploitation to local Vulnerability Groups to safeguard
them against harm e.g. risk of cuckooing of their property due to substance dependency, and share
intelligence to help bring offenders to justice.

 Use of enforcement powers e.g. Criminal Behaviour Order, to take action against identified persistent
offenders engaging in ASB where their behaviour is alcohol-related.

3 

Page 45 Agenda Item 10



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Targeted outreach work delivered by KCC Youth Workers and The Gr@nd Project Youth Workers to
engage with young people at risk of drug-related ASB.

 Using G-Safe Exclusion Orders and D-TAC Community Protection Warning letters/Notices for those
individuals repeatedly involved alcohol or drug-related crime from member premises.

Serious and Organised Crime 

 Established multi-agency Organised Crime forums with a broad representation of agencies to share
intelligence/take joint action to disrupt Organised Crime Groups (OCGs) operating in our area.

 Joint work between CSUs and Early Help Teams to commission educational interventions to prevent
young people being drawn into gang and drug-related activity through 1:1 and group work.

 Working with the Metropolitan Police staff and London Boroughs to improve information sharing, to
identify young people who may live, socialise, go to school, or be living in care cross-border, to
protect them from harm and/or being drawn into gang-related or other serious criminal activity.

 Training delivered to partner agency representatives promote a better understanding of how OCGs
operate, key categories of SOC and identification of good practice.

 Publishing of Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Statements to raise awareness and guard
against such activity presenting within local supply chains.

 Participation in the Kent and Medway Prevent Delivery Group and in Channel Panels following
referrals and awareness-raising amongst staff to mitigate against security risks.

Reducing Reoffending 

 Joint working between partner agencies through the IOM process in order that potential issues that
could affect an individual about to be released can be identified early on and tailored interventions
developed to address factors influencing offending behaviour e.g. substance dependency.

 Joint work with KSS CRC and the use of Community Payback Teams in both Boroughs.

 Delivery of a restorative justice programme for young people, GLOW (led by G-Safe and KCC
Community Wardens) for first-time shoplifters (young people and adults).

 Targeted outreach youth work and programmes to engage with young people involved in repeat ASB
to change their behaviour and divert them into constructive activity e.g. Climbing Fit.

 Use of a range of enforcement powers e.g. Acceptable Behaviour Agreements, Community
Protection Warnings and Notices, Criminal Behaviour Orders, to prevent reoffending.

Protecting Vulnerable People and Strengthening Communities 

 Continued development and delivery of the No Space for Hate Campaign through joint work with The
Gr@nd Project and Youth Advisory Group, awareness raising sessions, a hate crime survey conducted
in schools and through community events.

 Successful bid to MCHLG Migration Fund for a Gravesham project, Altogether Stronger that includes:
i) a youth project to integrate and safeguard young people from harm; ii) delivery of music and food
cross-community events; iii) training and awareness raising on hate crime.

 Vulnerability Groups established to ensure that intelligence is fully shared regarding high risk of harm
individuals and multi-agency plans delivered to try to meet their needs.

 Second successful bid to MHCLG Migration Fund with London Borough of Havering acting as the Lead
Authority, partnered by Dartford, Gravesham and Bexley to provide access to the Origins Atlas
software system to develop our intelligence in respect of migration and community cohesion.

 Targeted work with women and girls from BAME backgrounds through the work of the Altogether
Safer VAWG Project with a focus on the development of peer support groups in each Borough.

 Councils continue to engage with emerging communities through the provision of publicly funded
cultural and community events such as local Festivals, various outdoor cinema and theatre shows,
Festival of Light, St. Georges Day Parade.

 Dartford Civil Enforcement Officers regularly attend schools in the school safety van at relevant
times to ensure adherence to safety measures such as zig-zag markings to reduce risks for school
children and their families.

4 

Page 46Agenda Item 10



  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

Our New Objectives 
How have we identified our objectives? 

The Partnership has a statutory duty to produce an annual Strategic Assessment to measure our 
performance towards meeting our CSP objectives in tackling our agreed community safety priorities.  The 
Assessment collates considerable information and data from a broad range of partner agencies, detailing 
levels of crime and ASB that enables the CSP to consider the current position and any changing 
circumstances or emerging issues that could necessitate different approaches or interventions. 

Certain other considerations have been taken into account in addition to recorded figures and that have 
helped to identify those areas of work that now form the priorities contained in this new Community Safety 
Strategy 2019-2022.  These considerations include: 

 Volume – level of offences as a proportion of total crime;

 Level of harm – impact offences have on victims and communities;

 Community concern – level of priority which local people would attribute to a particular offence;

 Partnership added-value – extent to which multi-agency working can enhance the ability of agencies
to tackle a particular strand of offending behaviour;

 Trend analysis – giving due consideration to patterns of increase in an offence type (where it is
possible to ascertain).

In addition, existing and emerging national priorities, legal obligations faced by CSPs, policing priorities 
included in both the Kent Police Control Strategy and the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Policing and
Crime Plan, are also taken into account. 

Public Opinion 
The need for local people to be given an opportunity to voice their views and opinions is recognised as 
crucially important in achieving long-term change and improving community safety.  Whilst statistics can 
provide a good foundation in identifying priorities, relying on them alone may result in issues that are key 
concerns in local neighbourhoods being missed.  

A public opinion survey was conducted between 18 February and 3 March 2019 which was made available 
on both the Gravesham and Dartford Borough Council websites and via each Borough’s social media 
platforms including Facebook, Instagram and Twitter. People who either live or work in Dartford or 
Gravesham were invited to complete the survey which asked them to identify those community safety 
issues that, in their experience, were of the greatest concern in their neighbourhood.  A total of 420 people 
responded – 299 (71.19%) of these either lived or worked in Gravesham and 121 (28.81%) of respondents 
either lived or worked in Dartford. 

Respondents were asked to select the single MOST important issue in their local area.  407 people 

answered this question and the vast majority stated that ASB was their main concern – 163 (40.05% of all 

respondents).  

5 

Page 47 Agenda Item 10



� 
� 
� 
� 
� 

Single most important concern in local areas 

9% 

23% 

20% 

40% 

8% 
Violence 

Property crime 

Town centre safety 

ASB 

Substance misuse 

Once people had identified what they felt was the most important issue in their area, they were also asked 

to choose their top 3 concerns within that category with the following results: 

Most Important Issue Top 3 issues within this category 

ASB 163 respondents (40% of total) Of 154 respondents to this question: 
Fly-tipping 65 (42%) 
Using/dealing drugs 62 (40%) 
Noisy/rowdy behaviour 61 (39%) 

Property crime 94 respondents (23%) Of 85 respondents to this question: 
Residential burglary 81 (95%) 
Shed/garage breaks 63 (74%) 
Theft of motor vehicles 49 (57%) 

Town centre safety 80 respondents (20%) Of 71 respondents to this question: 
Groups gathering on the street 45 (63%) 
Violence in the evening/NTE 43 (60%) 
Public place violence 27 (38%) 

Violence 37 (10%) Of 34 respondents to this question: 
Youth violence 22 (65%) 
Gun/knife crime 19 (56%) 
Robbery 16 (47%) 

Substance misuse 33 (8%) Of 29 respondents to this question: 
Drug dealing 24 (83%) 
Class A drug use 17 (59%) 
Cannabis use (45%) 

Breakdown of respondents who completed the survey 

Age from 342 responses % Ethnicity from 342 responses % Gender from 342 responses % 

18-24 3.5% White British 88.0% Male 30.5% 

25-34 9.0% White Irish 2.5% Female 66.5% 

35-44 14.5% White Other 3.0% Transgender 0.25% 

45-54 27.0% 
White and Black 
African 1.0% Not provided 2.75% 

55-64 27.0% 
Any other mixed 
background 0.25% 

65+ 17.0% Indian 1.0% 

Not provided 2.0% Bangladeshi 0.5% 

Chinese 0.25% 

Caribbean 0.25% 

Other 0.25% 

Not provided 3.0% 

6 

Page 48Agenda Item 10



  
  

 

Governance 
The Partnership has been structured to ensure that the priorities in this Strategy can be effectively delivered 

and that performance and progress is regularly monitored with appropriate checks and balances to keep our 

work on track. As well as a joint overarching strategic group that brings together statutory agencies at a most 

senior level, the Partnership has a number of Operational Groups that deliver projects on the ground. Each 

Borough’s Community Safety Unit (CSU), carries out the day-to-day co-ordination of Partnership activity. The 

positions of Chair and Vice-Chair of the Partnership are alternated between the two Councils’ Leaders or Lead 

Member for Community Safety/Public Protection and senior officers representing strategic links to other 

partnership boards provide co-ordination across the piece. 

Partnership Organisational Structure 

DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM 
COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP (CSP) 

CSP Executive Group 

Dartford 
Community Safety Unit 

Gravesham 
Community Safety Unit 

Vulnerability Forum 

North Kent Domestic Abuse 
Forum 

Vulnerability and Organised 
Crime Panel 

Community Multi-Agency Risk 
Assessment Conference 

(Vulnerability Forum) 

Serious Organised Crime 
Group 

Community Policing Team ASB Group 

CSU Daily Briefings CSU Daily Briefings 

Dartford and Gravesham Serious 
Youth Violence and Exploitation 

Group 

Altogether Safer – Reducing 
VAWG Project Group 

Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 

Further Groups also contributing to the work of the Partnership include: G-Safe, D-TAC, Kent and Medway Prevent 
Delivery Board and the Dartford and Gravesham Integrated Offender Management (IOM) Meeting. 

7 

Page 49 Agenda Item 10



 

   

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Priority 1: Violent Crime including Domestic 
Abuse 

Why is this important? 

Protecting people from harm has been identified as a priority because the Partnership recognises that 

personal safety is paramount. Certain offences such as domestic abuse or sexual offences, are known to 

suffer from under-reporting and significant Partnership work has taken place over a number of years to raise 

awareness of services and assistance, particularly amongst hard to reach groups and encourage victims to 

come forward.  National and global attention to sexual violence and abuse has generated public debate and 

this, together with a series of local initiatives that have been helping to fill gaps in services, have contributed 

to increases in reports to Police and other agencies. 

Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) is a national priority and considerable work is being undertaken 

in Dartford and Gravesham through our Home Office funded, Altogether Safer, project. The project has 

helped to provide the right services at the point of need, carried out work with boys and young men to help 

break the cycle of VAWG and raised awareness within our local BAME community of support services to help 

remove cultural barriers to access. 

Whilst most serious violent offences remain rare, violent crime (offences of violence against the person, 

sexual offences and robberies) still accounts for the greatest proportion of total crime in both Dartford and 

Gravesham (over 40% in each area) and about a quarter of violent offences involve injury to the victim. 

What is our focus? 

 To continue to raise awareness of VAWG in all its forms, to increase victim confidence to report and

seek specialist help;

 To work in partnership with the Local Children’s Safeguarding Group to address violence committed

against children and young people;

 To ensure that specialist support is available to victims of violence to see them through the justice

system to help increase the number of perpetrators brought to justice;

 To safeguard vulnerable adults from the risk of harm;

 To improve our intelligence picture of violence occurring in public places.

The first 12 months: 2019-20 – What will we do? 

 Deliver the Altogether Safer Project, including the Out of Hours Police Station based Independent

Domestic Violence Advisor Service; the Choose Respect Programme to boys and young men aged 11-

18 years and hold the annual female-audience VAWG Listen to our Voices Conference to raise

awareness of factors affecting behaviour and influencing domestic abuse;

 Work in partnership with Choices Domestic Abuse Services to deliver the Ministry of Housing

Communities and Local Government funded Step Change project to provide a wrap-around-the-

family service for victims of domestic abuse with complex needs and their children;

 Ensure high-risk victims are effectively supported through the Multi-Agency Risk Assessment

Conference process;

 Support victims of domestic abuse to remain in their own homes by providing increased home

security improvements through the Sanctuary scheme;

8 

Page 50Agenda Item 10



 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Work with Probation and law enforcement colleagues through offender management programmes

to moderate the behaviour of those involved in violent offending.

What is our aim for change by the end of this Strategy? 

 Reduction in violent crime (non-domestic) recorded in each Borough;

 Increased accessing of services by victims of domestic abuse (particularly from BAME and other hard

to reach victims);

 An increased awareness of the strands of VAWG and support services available;

 Improvement in the detection rate of violence with injury offences (non-domestic);

 Successful monitoring and behaviour change of known offenders through the Integrated Offender

Management Programme;

 Sound intelligence picture of hot spot locations for violent offences in public places (non-domestic);

 Reduction in violence with injury offences within hotspot locations and night-time economy areas.

Priority Performance Indicators for 2019-20 Quarterly CSP Monitoring 

 Number of domestic abuse reports to Police;

 Number of domestic abuse victims accessing local services;

 Rate of prosecutions of offenders of domestic abuse;

 Number of violent offences recorded in each Borough;

 Number of violence with injury offences in hotspot locations;

 Number of serious violent offences.

9 

Page 51 Agenda Item 10



 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Priority 2: Persistent Anti-Social Behaviour 
and Environmental Crime 

Why is this important? 

Preventing and tackling persistent Anti-social Behaviour (ASB) is frequently identified as a key priority by local 
communities because of the impact it has on quality of life within neighbourhoods. Within town centres, 
ASB also has the ability to negatively impact local businesses and is particularly damaging to public 
perceptions of local areas. Tackling ASB is resource-intensive and benefits significantly from multi-agency 
working, particularly where the ASB is intrinsically linked to drug and alcohol misuse as well as fly-tipping - a 
specific issue that effects both our rural and urban communities. 

Although the Partnership identifies ASB as a key priority, both Dartford and Gravesham have seen significant 
decreases in the recorded levels of ASB in the year ending 30 September 2018, which are mirrored across 
the county. Dartford has seen a decrease of 26.7% of recorded ASB incidents and Gravesham had a decrease 
of 22.3%. It is clear from our public consultation exercise that ASB still remains the primary community safety 
concern for local people and therefore, the Partnership needs to continue to work towards reducing the 
problems associated with ASB further. 

Fly-tipping is seen as a key manifestation of ASB and potentially, a factor in crime and fear of crime and is 
frequently linked to deliberate fire-setting. It has an adverse effect on the quality of life of local residents 
and also affects economic development/tourism, making areas less attractive to potential investors and 
visitors. Both Dartford and Gravesham Councils work with a range of agencies in taking enforcement action 
against offenders whenever possible through both reactive investigations and proactive operations. 

What is our focus? 

 To continue to reduce ASB incidents by taking a holistic approach in each case looking at any

underlining issues which need to be addressed;

 To utilise the powers and legislation available to Councils and other partners to combat ASB;

 To continue to prosecute individuals that fly-tip in our Boroughs;

 To reduce the number of deliberate and accidental fires.

The first 12 months: 2019-20 – What will we do? 

 Undertake proactive operations in partnership with the police in relation to fly-tipping, by checking

for waste carrier licenses etc.

 Working in partnership to support victims of ASB and to assist perpetrators in changing their

behaviours;

 Awareness raising via Kent Fire and Rescue Service around accidental fires and fire safety;

What is our aim for change by the end of this Strategy? 

 Reduction in ASB incidents recorded in each Borough;

 Increase in percentage of Fixed Penalty Notices issued for fly-tipping offences;

 Reduction in fly-tipping incidents;

 Reduction in deliberate fires.

10 

Page 52Agenda Item 10



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Priority Performance Indicators for 2019-20 Quarterly CSP Monitoring 

 Number of recorded anti-social behaviour incidents reported to the Police in the each Borough;

 Number of active ASB cases being investigated by each District;

 Number of graffiti incidents;

 Number of fly-tipping incidents;

 Number of fly-tipping prosecutions;

 Number of ASB incidents reported;

 Number of Community Protection Warnings/Notices and Acceptable Behaviour Agreements issued;

 Number of deliberate fires;

 Numbers of repeat victims of ASB;

 Numbers of repeat locations for ASB;

 Numbers of reported incidents of fly-tipping.

11 

Page 53 Agenda Item 10



     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Priority 3: Preventing Offending and 
Reducing Re-offending 

Why is this important? 

Preventing offending has been identified as a priority because the Partnership understands the detrimental 

impact that crime has on victims, their families and local communities.  The focus of partnership activity will 

aim to disrupt Serious and Organised Crime and prevent and reduce youth offending (which will encompass 

gang-related crime). Serious and Organised Crime and gang-related youth violence are now recognised as 

national priorities by Central Government and there is an expectation that Community Safety Partnerships 

will have a much more proactive role than has historically been the case, in working more closely with law 

enforcement agencies that have traditionally been the primary organisations to tackle these issues. 

Integrated Offender Management (IOM) is a multi-agency process for identifying those offenders who have 
or are causing harm to communities through their criminal and/or anti-social behaviour. Multi-agency 
expertise and resources are pooled to try to identify ways of reducing reoffending. The most common 
priority groupings both at county and local level related to involvement in Serious and Acquisitive Crime -
equivalent to 64.1% of the total cohort of prolific offenders locally. 

Government has also recently highlighted that knife crime is increasing nationally and with that in mind both 
Boroughs are working closely with Trading Standards (KCC) targeting knife sales to underage children, 
through work with local shops and supporting them with their ‘Challenge 25’ policies and through test 
purchasing to ensure that retailers are abiding to their own policies and legal responsibilities. 

What is our focus? 

 To continue to improve our intelligence picture of Serious and Organised Crime Groups, and gang-

related activity in our areas;

 To work in partnership with appropriate agencies to address re-offending and take a holistic

approach, by addressing the reasons why individuals re-offend;

 Raise awareness of gangs and knife crime including and appreciation of the consequences and risks

of carrying knives/other weapons both amongst young people and their families but also to increase

the understanding of this issue amongst front line professionals;

 To safeguard potential victims of crime.

The first 12 months: 2019-20 – What will we do? 

 Continue with a multi-agency approach to disrupting Serious and Organised crime using powers and

authorisations that are available to different agencies;

 Deliver training to frontline staff on how to best work with young people involved in gangs including

identifying when young people may be involved in gangs and exit strategies;

 Working in partnership to help support the Kent and Medway Gang Strategy;

 Work with Probation and law enforcement colleagues through offender management programmes

to moderate the behaviour of those that have been known to offend/re-offend;

 Support victims of crime via other agencies such as Neighbourhood Watch, whilst offering advice on

scams to those identified as more vulnerable to becoming victims of Serious and Organised Crime;

 Work with and support Kent Trading Standards with knife test purchase operations whilst raising the

importance of ‘Challenge 25’ with local businesses.

12 

Page 54Agenda Item 10



 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

What is our aim for change by the end of this Strategy? 

 Reduction in crime recorded in each Borough;

 Reduction in the number of young people committing crime;

 An increased awareness gangs to young people to avoid them becoming involved in or targeted by

gangs;

 Improvement in the detection and disruption of Organised Crime Groups;

 Successful monitoring and behaviour change of known offenders through the Integrated Offender

Management Programme;

 Sound intelligence picture of the current gangs operating in and around our Boroughs.

Priority Performance Indicators for 2019-20 Quarterly CSP Monitoring 

 Number of services users who re-offend;

 Number of total crimes committed in each borough;

 Number of young people committing crime.

13 

Page 55 Agenda Item 10



 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
  

   

 

 

 
 
 

Priority 4: Protecting Vulnerable People and 

Strengthening Communities 
Why is this important? 

CSP members share Safeguarding responsibilities to protect people who are more vulnerable to harm for a 

variety of reasons. In addition to those who are susceptible to harm through such factors as their age, 

disability, gender, religion and belief, or sexual orientation there are those who find themselves in specific 

circumstances that make them vulnerable to being victimised repeatedly. 

Recent work in both Dartford and Gravesham has reinforced the value of a joint, multi-agency approach of 

delivering tailored interventions to identified individuals and/or families. Vulnerable people are frequently 

repeat victims; ensuring they receive relevant and timely support will help to bring offenders to justice and 

ultimately also reduce demand on services. 

Our Boroughs are already the most diverse in the county and given level of housebuilding that is currently 

being enjoyed across the area, this is set to continue as new communities move into North Kent. Experience 

from other parts of the country indicates that such rapid change presents a risk of increased hate crime and 

a threat to community resilience and cohesion which is already heightened. 

In addition, both Local Authorities have a legal duty to take steps to reduce the threats posed by terrorism 

and extremism as well as mitigating against security risks. 

What is our focus? 

 To continue to raise awareness of hate crime, in all its forms, to increase victim confidence and seek
support;

 To understand the changing demography of the CSP area;

 To continue to provide events that are accessible to all and strengthen communities;

 To raise awareness amongst children who are vulnerable by age to criminal exploitation;

 To safeguard vulnerable children who are directly at risk of harm;

 To protect specific communities who are more vulnerable to particular crimes.

The first 12 months: 2019-20 – What will we do? 

 Produce an ethno cultural profile and to understand how both Districts are changing using the
Origins Database as provided through the recently successful Migration Fund bid;

 Identify and support specific communities who are at high risk of domestic burglaries;

 Ensure both Districts’ Vulnerability Fora continue to support those in need through the
implementation of multi-agency plans;

 Work with KCC to take maximum advantage of £1.3m secured from the Government’s Supporting
Families against Youth Crime Fund to help prevent young people becoming involved in gangs and
youth violence;

 To continue to develop collaborative working with London Boroughs to share operational
intelligence about  Child Criminal Exploitation;

 To continue to support the Kent Prevent Duty Delivery Board and a County Channel Panel as
required by the Prevent Duty contained within the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015;

 Provide training to frontline staff in relation to Child Criminal Exploitation;

 Continue to work with schools in relation to Student Financial exploitation;

 Relaunch the Shop Safe scheme (Dartford) and continue with the Scheme in Gravesham;

14 

Page 56Agenda Item 10



 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Provide support to members of the community who are vulnerable due to their individual
circumstance;

 Ensure that the emerging communities are aware Community Events being held.

What is our aim for change by the end of this Strategy? 

 An understanding of the changing demographic profile of both Districts, with effective community
cohesion between long standing and new communities;

 Increase in confidence of hate crime victims resulting in greater reporting of hate crime and the
number of offenders brought to justice;

 Established working practices between us and neighbouring London Boroughs that identify and
mitigate risks caused through the safeguarding moves of families whose child/children have been
criminally exploited.

Priority Performance Indicators for 2019-20 Quarterly CSP Monitoring 

 Number of reported hate crimes reported;

 Percentage of hate crimes detected;

 Number of Safe and Well Visits conducted by Kent Fire and Rescue;

 Number of Community Events held;

 Number of homeless applicants placed in Temporary Accommodation;

 Number of households where homelessness has been prevented;

 Number of Prevent and Channel Referrals.

15 

Page 57 Agenda Item 10



Key Contacts 
Dartford Borough Council Gravesham Borough Council 
Community Safety Unit Community Safety Unit 
Civic Centre Civic Centre 
Home Gardens Windmill Street 
Dartford Gravesend 
Kent DA1 1DR Kent DA12 1AU 
Tel. 01322 343434 Tel. 01474 337000 

www.gravesham.gov.uk 

Kent Police 
Thames Way 
Northfleet 
Gravesend 
Kent DA11 8BD 
Tel. 01474 369055 
www.kent.police.uk 

Kent County Council 
Community Safety Unit 
Invicta House 
Maidstone 
Kent ME14 1XX 
 www.kent.gov.uk 

Kent Fire and Rescue Service Kent, Surrey & Sussex 
The Godlands Community Rehabilitation Company 
Straw Mill Hill Joynes House 
Maidstone New Road 
Kent ME15 6XB Gravesend 
Tel. 01622 692121 Kent DA11 0AT 
www.kent.fire-uk.org Tel. 01474 569546 

www.ksscrc.co.uk 

NHS Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley 
Clinical Commissioning Group 
2nd Floor, Gravesham Civic Centre 
Windmill Street 
Gravesend 
Kent DA12 1AU 
Tel. 03000 424903 
www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk 

Kent Police and Crime 
Commissioner 
1st Floor, Gail House 
Lower Stone Street 
Maidstone 
Kent ME15 6NB 
Tel. 01622 677055 
www.kent-pcc.gov.uk 

16 

Page 58Agenda Item 10



15 July 2020 - 30 November 2020 
 

1 of 2 

 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

 
This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly. 
 
All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively. 
 
Cabinet Members: 
 
Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Housing 
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader 
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Youth, Health & Wellbeing 
Councillor S H Brown, Portfolio: Waste & Environment 
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Finance 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Arts & Culture 
Councillor R J Wells, Portfolio: Community Safety 
 
All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk. 
 
This notice supersedes all previous notices. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 59

A
genda Item

 11



 

2 of 2 
 

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED 

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM 

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR 

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified) 

Co-Op Site Development 
 
To update members on progress 
with the Co-Op development, 
including the health hub, and to 
present options to Members to 
ensure the scheme remains viable. 
 

Cabinet 
24 Sep 2020 
 

  
 

Sarah Martin, Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 
Tel: 01322 343632 
sarah.martin@dartford.gov.uk 

OPEN 

Write-Off of National Non-
Domestic Rates 
 
To consider writing-off National Non-
Domestic Rates debts where it has 
not been possible to obtain payment 
because of insolvency, because the 
ratepayer cannot be traced or where 
the debt is otherwise irrecoverable.  
 

Cabinet 
24 Sep 2020 
 

  
 

Sue Cressall, Business Rates 
Manager 
Tel: 01732 227041 
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk 

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended). 

P
age 60

A
genda Item

 11



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW and SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE 

29 July 2020 

 

 
 
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2019-20 

 

 
1. Summary 

 
To consider a report on the work carried out by the Crime and Disorder (Overview 
and Scrutiny) Committee during the preceding 2019-20 municipal year. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

That, subject to any amendments proposed by Members, the draft annual report 
on the Committee’s work during the 2019-20 municipal year (attached as 
Appendix A to this report) be approved and submitted to the General Assembly of 
the Council. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 
3.1. In accordance with its Protocol (June 2019) the Committee is required to 

report annually to the General Assembly of the Council (GAC) on the work it 
has undertaken during the preceding municipal cycle.  

3.2. A draft annual report detailing the work undertaken by the Committee during 
the 2019-20 municipal year is attached at Appendix A for Members 
consideration and comment, prior to submission to the GAC. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
The work of the Committee supports the aim of creating safer communities 
and a safer Borough in which to live, work and socialise. 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 
 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None  

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
 

6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
Not applicable. 
 

Page 61 Agenda Item 13



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW and SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE 

29 July 2020 

 

 
7. Appendices 

 
Appendix A: Crime and Disorder (O&S) Committee draft Annual Report for the 
2019-20 municipal year; 
Appendix B: Committee Terms of Reference [May 2019]; 
Appendix C: Committee Protocol (June 2019) 
Appendix D: Memorandum of Understanding with Dartford & Gravesham 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP) [July 2020] 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
Crime and Disorder (O&S) 
Protocol (June 2019), MoU with 
D&G CSP (April 2019), ToRs 
(May 2019), Annual Report 
2018/19, Committee Agendas 
and Minutes dated 24 July 2019 
and 12 February 2020  
 

June 2020 David Hook 
Committee Coordinator 

Democratic Services  
(01322 343276) 

Democratic 
Services/ 
Executive 
Directorate 

(ES) 

N/A 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 62Agenda Item 13



APPENDIX A 

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

          
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

CRIME AND DISORDER 
(OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY)        

COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
Draft Annual Report 2019-20 
 

 

Page 63 Agenda Item 13



APPENDIX A 

Introduction and Background 
 
The Council has a legal duty under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to carry 
out all of its various functions with regard to the need to prevent crime and 
disorder and reduce re-offending in its area. ‘Crime and Disorder’ is defined as 
including forms of crime and disorder that involve anti-social behaviour or other 
behaviour adversely affecting the local environment or the misuse of drugs, 
alcohol and other substances. 
 
The Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) Committee was appointed 
by the General Assembly of the Council (GAC) in October 2009 under the 
provisions of the Police and Justice Act 2006 and the Local Government and 
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, and in direct response to the provisions 
of the subsequent Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 
2009.  
 
The 2006 and 2007 Acts and the 2009 Regulations granted the Council the 
power to scrutinise both crime and disorder matters and hold the Dartford and 
Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (the CSP), and its partner 
organisations, to account for their performance. This includes partnership work 
with the Council to meet specific local targets as detailed in the Memorandum 
of Understanding (MoU) between the Council and the CSP (Appendix D 
attached).  
 
In accordance with its Protocol dated June 2019 (Appendix C to this report) the 
Committee is required to review, scrutinise, and make reports and 
recommendations regarding the functioning of the responsible authorities which 
comprise the Dartford and Gravesham CSP as listed below:  
 
Dartford Borough Council 
 
Gravesham Borough Council 
 
Kent County Council 
 
Kent Police 
 
Kent Fire and Rescue Service 
 
Kent, Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company 
 
Kent and Medway Clinical Commissioning Group  
    
The Protocol also requires the Committee to report annually to the General 
Assembly of the Council (GAC), on the work it has undertaken in the preceding 
municipal year. This report provides a summary of the work undertaken by the 
Committee during the 2019-20 municipal year. Comprehensive details of the 
Committee’s work in the period under review are contained in the minutes of 
their meetings as published in full on the Council’s website. 
 
 
 
 

Page 64Agenda Item 13



APPENDIX A 

The work carried out by the Crime & Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) Committee 
compliments the work undertaken by the Scrutiny and Policy Overview 
Committees, as defined in their respective Protocols and detailed in their 
respective annual Work Plans; to avoid any duplication of effort by Members or 
work Officers sitting and serving the respective committees.  
 

CRIME & DISORDER (O&S) COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  

 
In accordance with its Protocol the Committee is required to consider on a 
statutory basis each year:  
 

 The Dartford & Gravesham CSP’s Strategic Assessment document;  

 The CSP’s projected three-year Community Safety Strategy or the 
annual Strategy Refresh document (as appropriate). 
 

In addition, on a discretionary basis, with the prior agreement of the CSP or 
the Council’s Strategic Director (External Services) as appropriate; the 
Committee reviews on a rolling basis the contributions made by individual CSP 
partner agencies to the overall aims of the Partnership; as detailed in the 
Memorandum of Understanding between the Council and the Partnership 
[Appendix C attached refers].  
  
The Committee also considers stock agenda items on a rolling annual basis. In 
the 2019-20 municipal year under review the Committee considered: 
 

 the D&G CSP’s mid-year Performance Report (July 2019); 

 the published Minutes of the Kent & Medway Police & Crime Panel 
(PCP) meetings held between February 2019 and February 2020;  

 the annual update report from the Council’s Dartford Town against 
Crime (DTAC) team.  

 
The Committee met twice during the 2019-20 municipal cycle on 24 July 
2019 (Summer Meeting) and 12 February 2020 (Winter Meeting).  
 
In July 2019 Members agreed an initial rolling Work Programme for the 
Committee [see table below] to be reviewed at subsequent meetings: 
 

Rolling Work Programme 2019-20 and Beyond 
 

Meeting Work Plan Items 

Summer 
2019 
(July)   

D-TAC (Dartford 
Town Against Crime) 
Annual Report 2018-
19 
 
Committee Protocol 
(June 2019) 
 
Kent Police & Crime 
Panel (PCP) Update 
 

 

Dartford Safer Streets 
Policy: Update from 
Kent Police 
 
D&G Community 
Safety Partnership 
(CSP) Community 
Safety Strategy 2019-
2022 

D&G CSP 
Performance 
Report July 
2019 
 
Committee draft 
Annual Report 
2018-19 
 
2019-20 WP 
 

Page 65 Agenda Item 13



APPENDIX A 

Winter 2020 
(February) 
 

Public Misuse of 
Nitrous Oxide (NO) 
 
PCP Update 
 

D&G CSP Strategic 
Assessment 2019 

Review 2019-20 
Work Plan  
 
 

Summer 
2020 
(July) 

D&G CSP 
Community Safety 
Strategy 2020 
Refresh  
 
D-TAC (Dartford 
Town Against Crime) 
Annual Report 2019-
20 

CSP Performance 
Report July 2020 
 
PCP Update 
 
Committee draft 
Annual Report 2019-
20 
 

Draft Work 
Programme for  
2020-21 and 
beyond  
 
 

Winter 2021 
(February) 

D&G CSP Strategic 
Assessment 2020 

PCP Update 
 
 

Review 2020-21 
Work Plan 
 
 

 
In addition to the rolling Work Programme of statutory, discretionary and stock 
agenda items agreed and detailed above; Members subsequently agreed the 
following additional items for inclusion in their Work Plan for 2020-21 and 
beyond:  
 

 an update from the Community Safety Manager (CSM) and Kent Police 
representatives on the ‘Public Misuse of Nitrous Oxide’ [February 
2020]; 
 

 an update from the CSM and Kent Police on ‘Criminal Gangs’ [July 
2020]; 
 

 an update from relevant CSP partner Agencies on measures to combat 
telephone and other fraud suffered by elderly and vulnerable Dartford 
residents [July 2020 t.b.c.]; 
 

 an update from Public Health Kent on the health implications of Nitrous 
Oxide (NO) inhalation [subject to PH acceptance]. 
 
 
  

 
WORK PLAN ITEMS considered in the 2019-20 MUNICIPAL YEAR 

 
 
Items that were considered by the Committee in the 2019-20 municipal cycle 
are summarised below for Members to note. Comprehensive details of the 
Committee’s discussions throughout the period under review, are contained in 
the relevant minutes of their meetings, and published in full on the Council’s 
website. 
 
 

Page 66Agenda Item 13



APPENDIX A 

Summer Meeting – 24 July 2019 
 
Chairman’s Welcome 
 
For the benefit of new Members the Chairman reminded the Committee that 
he had sat on the body since 2015 prior to being appointed Chairman of the 
Committee by the Leader of the Council in May 2019. He advised that his 
working life as an Enforcement Manager for a London authority, gave him 
further insight and background to assist him in his role as Chairman of the 
Committee. 
 
Members were reminded that the role of the Committee was to act as ‘critical 
friend’ to the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP), 
concentrating on Borough matters under the advice and guidance of the 
Strategic Director (External Services). The Committee was also advised and 
supported by Officers in the Council’s Community Safety Unit, and liaised 
regularly with Kent Police on Dartford matters via the Dartford CSU Inspector, 
and the District Commander for Dartford & Gravesham. 
 
Standing Invitations  
 
The Committee renewed their standing invitation to the Councillor Mrs Ann 
Allen MBE to attend their meetings in the ensuing municipal year, as Cabinet 
Portfolio Holders for Community Development, and to Councillor Richard 
Wells, in his roles as Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community Safety, and 
Dartford representative in the Kent & Medway Police and Crime Panel (PCC).  
 
Members also renewed their invitations to the Council’s Strategic Director 
(External Services), the Manager and Officers of the Council’s Community 
Safety Unit (CSU), and representatives of Kent Police, to continue to attend 
their meetings in the 2019-20 municipal cycle, to offer guidance and inform 
their discussions as appropriate and their principal duties permitted. 
 
Item 1: Kent Police and Crime Panel (PCP) – Update 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community Safety addressed the Committee 
in his role as Dartford representative on Kent’s Police and Crime Panel (PCP).  
 
He advised for the particular benefit of new Members, that the PCP was the 
Kent-wide body [co-ordinated by Kent County Council], which held Kent’s 
Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) to account. The Panel comprised a 
Member from all Kent Districts, plus 1 Member from KCC, 1 Member from 
Medway Council and 2 Independent Members.  
 
The Panel’s terms of reference (ToRs) were to: 
 

 review all aspects of the PCC’s work and report on his actions and 
decisions; 

 approve the precept (money the PCC wishes to raise through the 
Council Tax) to pay for policing; 

 review the PCC’s  proposals for the appointments of Chief Constable, 
Chief Executive and Chief Finance Officer; 

Page 67 Agenda Item 13



APPENDIX A 

 review the PCC’s Police and Crime Plan and Annual Report 
documents. 

 
In the absence of published minutes the Cabinet Portfolio Holder updated the 
Committee regarding the principal themes discussed by the Panel at their 
most recent meeting held on 19 July 2019 which were: 
 

 confirmation of the Police and Crime Commissioner’s 2017/18 Annual 
Report; 

 recruitment of an additional 200 police officers and maintenance of 
existing PCSO numbers; 

 confirmation of the recruitment of a further 180 police officers and 50 
civil staff in 2019; 

 an increase in Sexual Offence Liaison Officers (SOLOs) across all 38 
town centres in Kent, with an added focus on DA (Domestic Abuse); 

 a marked improvement in Kent Police’s 101 response service during 
2018, following an intervention by the PCC.  

 
Members also resolved to note the published minutes of the previous Panel 
meeting held on 6 February 2019. 
 
Item 2: Dartford Town against Crime (DTAC) Progress Report: July 2018 
to July 2019Members considered a report from the Community Safety 
Manager (CSM) which set out the background to the existing Dartford Town 
against Crime (DTAC) operation and its key aims to:  
 

 support the aims of  the Dartford Town Centre Partnership and the 
Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership to promote the 
concept of a safe and secure town centre, as set out in its terms of 
reference (ToRs) under the guidance of its Board of Management; 

 adopt a proactive approach to identify, target and focus on the most 
serious, prolific and professional criminals operating in Dartford, in 
addition to those engaged in petty crime and anti-social behaviour; 

 to co-ordinate the dissemination of information to DTAC partners and 
promote action against persistent offenders. 

 
The key objectives set in the Business Plans for DTAC in 2016-17 and 2017-
18 had been to: 

 
(i) install the required infrastructure to facilitate borough-wide 

membership growth and reinforce the Council’s emergency planning 
procedures; 

(ii) increase the number of people reporting crime through Disc (Secure 
Information Sharing System) used by DTAC partners; 

(iii) undertake radio training, Counter-Terrorism training and Conflict 
Management training with DTAC members. 

 
The Council had appointed a new DTAC Intelligence Manager (IM) in May 
2019. Karen Radford had previously served as a Kent Police officer for some 
30 years, including a secondment to Dartford’s Community Safety Unit (CSU), 
before retiring with the rank of Police Inspector. Since her appointment as IM 
she had identified 6 working priorities for the Scheme going forward to: 

Page 68Agenda Item 13



APPENDIX A 

 

 re-establish a robust radio network across the Borough; 

 personalise the current NABCP (National Association Business Crime 
Partnership) national forms for distribution to DTAC members to include 
Data Protection Act 2018 requirements; 

 achieve NABCP accreditation; 

 refresh the DTAC Business Plan; 

 increase DTAC membership; 

 co-ordinate a closer working relationship with the Dartford Town Centre 
Partnership. 

 
Members received a PowerPoint presentation from the IM which expanded on 
her identified priorities in greater detail:   
 

 DTAC had been developed in 2003 as a partnership between the local 
authority, local businesses, town centre management, Kent police and 
other agencies, with a Board of Management derived from that 
membership, and was a non-political and non-profit making group; 

 DTAC’s crime reduction strategies aimed to identify local and travelling 
criminals to manage their offending behaviour and reduce criminal 
opportunity in both the day-time and night-time economies in Dartford; 

 The key role of the DTAC IM was to facilitate the effective flow of 
information between the Council and other DTAC members, supporting 
agencies and key partners including Kent Police, and give businesses in 
Dartford a ‘heads-up’ to check customers via the Scheme’s Disc 
intelligence database; 

 The IM’s use of civil powers (including the Council’s CCTV operation), 
and her close working relationships with Dartford’s shopping centre 
management and security staff, with their own CCTV operations, helped 
to proactively deal with offenders on a daily basis, to help ensure public 
safety in the town centre; 

 Effective management of the DTAC radio system which linked all 
members to the Council’s CSU operation [and by extension Kent Police]; 

 The Government’s Data Protection Regulations (DPA 2018) had 
required all DTAC members to sign new GDPR compliant membership 
agreements, including use of DTAC radios and the passing of personal 
data from DTAC’s Disc intelligence database to fellow members; 

 DTAC full membership cost £360 per annum and associate membership 
(without access to the Disc) £200 p.a. The Scheme had 83 members of 
which 61 were businesses. It was hoped to encourage further 
membership in Longfield Parish and the Tree Estate following an update 
to the DTAC radio mast. In addition to Disc access, Members received 
a weekly newsletters, linkage to a network of CCTV cameras, security 
staff and Kent police, attendance at DTAC meetings and training for staff 
to address offending behaviour affecting local businesses; 

 The free ‘Shop Safe I.D. Scheme’ had been designed to protect elderly 
and vulnerable persons with learning difficulties visiting the town centre, 
and was being made GDPR compliant. The Scheme had 82 members 
with 10 new applications pending. Members were given a personal I.D. 
tag which allowed their carer/relative to be called in time of need, with 
full membership details stored on a database, for access by Orchard 
Centre security and Memory Café staff and CSU officers; 

Page 69 Agenda Item 13



APPENDIX A 

 Dartford had been chosen by Kent Police’s ‘Crimestoppers’ scheme to 
host a new initiative whereby images of ‘Kent’s most wanted’ criminals 
were displayed on 2 digital media screens in the Orchard shopping 
centre. The screens rotated several times each hour throughout the day, 
7 days a week and had led to two arrests to date; 

 Way Forward: increase both DTAC and Shop Safe Scheme membership 
and increase radio coverage testing and training across the Borough. 
Encourage all DTAC members to use the Disc system and phone app to 
share information and intelligence. 

 

In a subsequent Q&A session with Members the following further points were 
confirmed by Officers in response to specific questions: 
 

 The existing Council assisted DTAC operation concentrated its 
operations on the town centre. Following the planned expansion of the 
Scheme into Swanscombe (and increased co-ordination with that Town 
Council), it was proposed to make the Scheme an independent 
operation; 

 Bluewater had a separate policing team, but shared a common 
database and vehicle I.D. technology with DTAC; 

 The Crimestoppers initiative by Kent Police (with the aid of PCC 
funding) had gone well and helped to increase footfall in the town centre. 
It was hoped that a similar ‘Kent most wanted criminals’ scheme 
would be funded by shop owners in the future; 

 The CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy) precept could be used to fund 
CCTV infrastructure, but not running costs; 

 The town centre retained a dedicated Police Constable supported by a 
PCSO, an additional dedicated PC for town centre duties was due to be 
recruited. 

 
Members expressed their thanks to the CSM for his report and to the DTAC 
IM for her detailed presentation, and resolved to note the achievements of the 
DTAC scheme in Dartford for the period 1 July 2018 to 1 July 2019, and the 
outstanding contribution made to the Scheme by her predecessor as DTAC 
Manager Mr Mike Morgan, from 2015 to December 2018. 
 
Item 3: Update on Kent Police’s Safer Streets Policy for Dartford  
 
The Committee received an oral update from the District Commander 
(Dartford & Gravesham), Chief Inspector Neil Louden, regarding his ongoing 
review of Kent Police’s Safer Streets Policy for Dartford.  
 
He reminded Members that the primary aim of the policy was to provide a 
visible police presence to re-assure the public, and help contribute towards an 
invigorated town centre for public’s benefit and enjoyment.  
 
Members were advised that prior to reductions in police staffing levels across 
Kent and elsewhere in England following government funding cuts, Dartford’s 
town centre policing team had comprised of  8 Constables under the 
supervision of a police Sargeant. Reduced resources dictated that police 
officers in Dartford could no longer be dedicated entirely to town centre duties, 
and existing patrol patterns for Dartford town centre now comprised an early 

Page 70Agenda Item 13



APPENDIX A 

intervention patrol by 2 uniformed officers prior to midnight and the onset of 
full night-time economy activity. That initial patrol was supplemented by 
random visible uniform patrols to premises and known ‘hot-spots’ in the night-
time economy after midnight.  
 
Other measures to combat crime in the town centre had been the purchase of 
a ‘’knife-arch’ which was operated on selected week-ends at various premises 
and known hot-spots in the town centre. Whilst the police could not require 
individuals to pass through the ‘knife-arch’, commercial venues could make it 
a condition of entry. A second initiative had seen increased co-operation 
between police officers in Dartford CSU and British Transport Police to target 
known criminals from the Metropolis and elsewhere in Kent, arriving in 
Dartford by train to commit offences in the Borough.  
 
Kent Police had received good feedback from the public over these new 
measures via their twitter-feed and directly to their beat officers patrolling the 
town centre. It was hoped to increase the week-end police presence in 
Dartford following the next tranche of Kent Police recruitment. 
 
Members were advised by the CSM that the Council had secured increased 
PCC funding to finance the new CCTV operation in Westgate car park in the 
town centre. Whilst the strictures of the Government’s 2018 Data Protection 
Act made successful prosecutions difficult, significant reductions in incidences 
of drunken behaviour, public urination, car racing and noise in relation to the 
car park had been noted, following the CCTV installation. Police officers 
patrolling the town centre (and across the Borough), were able to tap into the 
Council’s CCTV footage to enable a rapid response to any incidents that did 
occur. 
 
In response to subsequent questions from Members, the District Commander, 
the EARS/CSU Manager and the CSM advised that:  
 

 Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs) were used primarily in the town 
centre during the hours of the night-time economy, and that such 
Dispersal Powers were only used on an intelligence-led basis, not as a 
blanket measure, and could be only be implemented by the police; 

 Civil Protection Warnings (CPWs) were the pre-cursor measure to Civil 
Protection Notices (CPNs), and were served on specific individuals. 
Some 85% of CPWs issued in Dartford proved effective and did not 
escalate to the CPN stage. CPWs were a civil procedure enforced by 
CSU Officers (rather than Kent Police), and were the preferred and most 
effective measure to combat anti-social behaviour (ASB); given the 
focus on action against named individuals, rather than the wider-ranging 
PSPO measure, which targeted a general area where ASB was being 
committed; 

 The Council’s decision to retain its CCTV operation ‘in-house’ (rather 
than out-source it to a commercial operative), had paid particular 
dividends in terms of developed local knowledge being used to 
effectively tackle local issues. However, the Council’s current CCTV 
operation remained a major cost centre, particularly in terms of the fibre 
cable for the system supplied by BT. Purchase of its own fibre cable in 
the future, was a possible long-term cost-saving investment for the 
Council to consider.  

Page 71 Agenda Item 13



APPENDIX A 

 
The Chairman and Members commended the use of the Police twitter-feed to 
update and encourage the public with ‘good news’ stories. Police use of 
Snapchat and Instagram was suggested to capture the attention of younger 
members of the community.  
 
The Chairman thanked the District Commander for updating Members 
regarding his ongoing review of Dartford’s Safer Streets policy which, he 
judged, had progressed significantly in the preceding 4 year period. 
 
Members commended the Police’s use of their twitter-feed account, to obtain 
and act on public feed-back to the new measures, and thanked the Council’s 
CSU teams for all their efforts on behalf of the Dartford public, to ensure safer 
streets in the town centre and across the Borough as a whole.  
 
 
 Item 4: Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) 
Community Safety Strategy 2019-2022 
 
 
The Committee agreed to consider the CSP’s 2019-2022 Strategy document 
prior to the July 2019 Performance Report, to give new Members in 
particular, a greater insight into the structure and workings of the CSP and its 
relationship to the Council. 
 
The Community Safety Manager (CSM) reminded Members that the Dartford 
and Gravesham CSP formed a unique local authority partnership in England, 
which enabled it to secure increased funding and benefit from common 
working practices, shared across both Boroughs. In addition to the two 
borough councils, the CSP membership comprised: 
 
Kent County Council 
Kent Police 
Kent Fire & Rescue Service 
Kent Probation 
Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley CCG  
 
The CSM summarised the legal Acts and Regulations which had led to the 
formation of CSPs in England and their governance, and the Council’s 
specific role and obligations regarding the prevention of crime and disorder 
and the reduction of re-offending in its area, both as a local authority and as a 
CSP partner.  
 
Full details are contained in the ‘Introduction and Background’ to this 
annual report [pages 2-3 refer], together with the Committee’s 2019-20 Work 
Programme (report pages 3-4), and the Council’s MoU with the D&G CSP 
attached as Appendix D to this report. 
 
Members were then asked to consider the CSM’s report which enclosed for 
their consideration and comment:  
 

 The D&G CSP’s Community Safety Strategy 2019-2022 (Appendix A to 
his report - written jointly with Gravesham CSU); 

Page 72Agenda Item 13



APPENDIX A 

 The CSP’s ‘Plan on a Page’ (Appendix also jointly agreed) 
 

The CSM advised that the CSP had a legal duty to work with other local 
agencies and organisations to develop and implement strategies to tackle 
crime and disorder, including anti-social and other behaviour, and the misuse 
of drugs, adversely affecting the local environment in Dartford and 
Gravesham.  
 
The 2019-2022 Strategy was the core document which combined the CSP’s 
strategy streams for the next 3 year period, to be refreshed on an annual 
basis (the ‘Annual Refresh’ document); based on the analysis of crime and 
disorder in both Boroughs for the previous year, as set out in the CSP’s 
annual Strategic Assessment (SA) document, which issued each December 
for consideration by the CSP the following January, and presented to the 
Committee each February. The 2019-2022 Strategy set out the following new 
Objectives for the CSP: 
 

 Priority 1 - Violent Crime including Domestic Abuse: a change in the 
Partnership’s approach from target based initiatives to concentrating on 
better reporting, raising awareness of issues and supporting hard to 
reach groups e.g. DA victims and VAWG (Violence against Women and 
Girls), and to employ cross-cutting themes to effectively tackle Gang 
Culture; 

 Performance Indicators to enabled the CSP to analyse the 
effectiveness of its strategies in 12 month building blocks, put to the 
public for comment; 

 Priority 2: Persistent Anti-Social Behaviour and Environmental 
Crime and Priority 3: Preventing Offending and Reducing Re-
offending:  addressed the CSP’s concerns regarding the vulnerability 
of young people to organised crime,  and the need for multi-agency co-
operation over a number of cross-cutting themes and initiatives to 
combat these offending behaviours; 

 Governance: the structure of the joint Partnership was set out into 
Forums, Panels and Teams, operating under the umbrella of each 
Borough’s Community Safety Unit (CSU). The Chairmanship of the CSP 
alternated on an annual basis between the Leaders of each Borough 
Council, with Dartford Council assuming the chairmanship for the 2019-
20 municipal cycle; 

 Plan on a Page (Appendix B) was a new feature to the Strategy and 
enabled readers to view the CSP’s Priorities and Aims at a glance.   

 
In response to specific questions from Members the CSM confirmed the 
following principal points:  
 

 DA and Violent Crime were combined under CSP Priority 1, but treated 
differently; 

 PREVENT and safeguarding training was given to licensed cab and 
mini-cab drivers in Dartford by CSU Licensing Officers, in co-operation 
with Kent Police and Kent Fire & Rescue Service to enhance driver 
awareness of indications of terror-related offences, child and human 
trafficking and county-lines drug offences by its passengers, and to 
report any concerns to the CSU/Kent Police; 

Page 73 Agenda Item 13



APPENDIX A 

 The CSO attended meetings of London authorities who housed gang 
members and other youth offenders in Dartford, to ensure maximum 
co-operation both prior to and after transfer of such clients;  

 Fly-tipping in Dartford needed to be tackled on a multi-faceted level. 
Re-education of the public over the offence (including the use of un-
licenced carriers) and the penalties such behaviour attracted was key, 
allied to the publication of successful prosecutions against named 
offenders. A new enforcement Officer had been added to the CSU 
team and the Waste & Parks Manager continued to work with the 
Council’s new waste contractor to address the issue on Dartford’s 
streets.  
 

Members resolved to note the contents of the Dartford and Gravesham 
Community Safety Partnership’s Community Safety Strategy 2019-2022 as 
enclosed at Appendix A to the report, together with the ‘Plan on a Page’ 
attached at Appendix B. 
 
Item 5: D&G CSP Performance Report July 2019 
 
Members considered the report from the Community Safety Manager (CSM) 
in closed session, under an ‘obligation of confidentiality’ to protect the source 
material that had been provided by individual CSP partner agencies. 
 
The July 2019 Performance Report detailed performance in relation to 
levels of crime, anti-social behaviour (ASB) and other indicators. It also 
highlighted the key Community Safety activity that had been delivered or was 
planned to be delivered in each CSP borough, against the headline priorities 
agreed in the new Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Strategy 
2019-2022 [Item 4 above refers].  
 
The District Commander (Dartford & Gravesham), Chief Inspector Louden 
Kent Police, summarised the EXEMPT material for the Committee, and 
answered subsequent questions of detail from Members related to specific 
crime categories, for offences recorded by Kent Police in Dartford for the 
period April-May 2018 to April-May 2019. 
 
Members resolved to note the contents of the CSP’s July 2019 Performance 
report as presented, and thanked the District Commander for his responses to 
their detailed questions concerning Dartford, in the period under review. 
 
Item 6: Committee’s draft Annual Report for 2018-19 
 
Members considered a draft report and appendices from the Committee Co-
ordinator, which recorded the work the Committee had undertaken in the 
previous 2018/19 municipal year; as set in the context of the Committee’s 
Terms of Reference (ToRs) and Protocol guidance documents [Appendices B 
and C attached to this report]. 
 
Members resolved to note the report as presented for forwarding to the 
General Assembly of the Council (GAC) for information, and thanked the 
Committee Co-ordinator for his support during the period under review.  
 

Page 74Agenda Item 13



APPENDIX A 

The Chairman asked that the continued guidance and contribution made to 
Committee’s work by the Strategic Director (External Services) be recorded in 
the minutes. He also thanked the Council’s CSU Officers for their detailed 
reports and advice during the period under review, and thanked the CSU 
Police Inspector and the District Commander (Dartford & Gravesham), for 
their continued support and advice to the Committee in the period under 
review. 
 
Item 7: Revised Committee Protocol [June 2019]  
 
Members resolved to note the contents of a revised Protocol for the 
Committee dated June 2019, as submitted by the Council’s Head of Legal 
Services, which incorporated recent changes in relevant government 
legislation. 
   
 
Winter Meeting – 12 February 2020 
 
Item 1: Kent Police and Crime Panel (PCP) Update 
 
Members received a verbal update from Councillor Wells in his role as 
Dartford representative to the PCP in the absence of published minutes, 
concerning the principal matters discussed by the Panel at their meeting on 6 
February 2020. Key points included: 
 

 Panel approval of the Police & Crime Commissioner’s (PCC’s) Plan, 
Associated Budget & Precept proposals for 2020/21; 

 Approval of an increase in the Policing precept of £10 p.a. equating to 
a 5.2% increase in council tax on Band D properties to increase Police 
funding by some £8.4M p.a. 

 
The PCC planned to use the increase in the police precept to: 
 

 Recruit 36 new PCSOs across Kent to help tackle crime in 21 
identified ‘hotspots’ 

 Recruit 100 more police staff; 

 Recruit 147 more police officers in year 1; 

 Recruit a further 34 police officers in year 2 [by 31 March 2021] to 
bring Kent police officer levels up to the highest recorded 

 
Panel discussion had also focussed on: 
 

 ‘County Lines’ activity across Kent by organised criminal gangs using 
young children and adolescents to deliver drugs to the Metropolis and 
neighbouring Counties, with the Panel voting unanimously to support 
all/any measures to educate children against involvement in such 
activities including the funding of more Youth Engagement officers to 
visit schools; 

 A new PCC initiative to form 10 new Kent Police Cadet Units for 13-17 
year olds (including 1 in Dartford). The Cadet curriculum would focus 
on team work and leadership skills and prioritise engagement with 
vulnerable adolescents and those already who had already 

Page 75 Agenda Item 13



APPENDIX A 

encountered the criminal justice system. Units would be run on a 
voluntary basis and would require venues to be identified for their 
activities. 

 
Members thanked the Cabinet Holder for his verbal update of the Panel 
proceedings held on 6 February 2020 and also resolved to note the published 
minutes of the Panel meeting held on 24 September 2019.  
   
Item 2: Public Misuse of Nitrous Oxide Canisters 
 
The Committee considered a report from the Community Safety Manager 
(CSM) which updated Members on the existing situation and implications 
regarding the use of nitrous oxide (NO) as a psychoactive substance across 
the Borough. A map detailing ‘hotspots’ in Dartford where spent nitrous oxide 
canisters were repeatedly dumped, formed Appendix A to the report. 
 
The CSM highlighted three principal points in his report for Member: 
 

 Nitrous oxide (NO) also known as laughing gas was a substance with a 
number of legitimate uses in medicine and catering; 

 Inhalation of NO could make users feel relaxed, euphoric or even 
hallucinogenic and was primarily used by 16-24 year olds in clubs, parks 
and car parks; 

 It was not  an offense to possess NO - but its supply or offer to supply 
to another for other than legitimate uses - was an offence under Section 
5 of the Psychoactive Substances Act 2016 - but difficult to prove; 
 

He appreciated Members’ concerns over the misuse of NO as a psychoactive 
substance in the community, in particular the unsightly dumping of spent NO 
canisters, which impacted significantly on the public’s perception of safety 
within an area defined as a ‘signal’ crime’: any criminal incident that caused a 
change in the public’s behaviour and/or beliefs about their security.  
 
Members were advised that the recreational misuse of NO presented 
challenges to three main agencies: 
 

 Public Health (PH): in relation to the potentially harmful effects of 
inhalation of NO for recreational users. PH had declined to attend the 
Committee meeting; which possibly indicated the low level of concern 
PH held over the issue at both national and local level; but had provided 
some general information regarding A&E admissions from NO ingestion; 

 Police: the effects of nitrous oxide inhalation only lasted some 30 
seconds with all traces leaving the body after only 10 minutes. This made 
proving impairment by a misuser to e.g. drive a car, very difficult for 
police officers prove. Moreover, possession of NO was not an offence, 
only the ‘supply or offering to supply [NO] as a psychoactive substance 
to another person’ was against the law, but equally difficult to prove given 
that most purchases were web-based. As a consequence, police 
response to 111 and 999 calls regarding alleged misuse of NO had to 
be prioritised, against the need to deploy police resources to tackle 
crime; 

Page 76Agenda Item 13



APPENDIX A 

 The Council: in terms of increased littering through the discarding of 
spent NO canisters by misusers - seen by many communities as being 
associated with criminal activity i.e. a ‘signal crime’. 

 
Given this background and challenges to combating NO misuse in the 
community, the Council had identified enhanced litter enforcement as the 
most effective weapon, supplemented by enforcement of the Public Space 
Protection Order (PSPO) in operation in Town Ward and use of the Council’s 
CCTV surveillance operation including in Westgate car park, a known 
‘hotspot’ for NO misuse.  
 
Where a spent NO canister was seen to be discarded by Civil Enforcement 
Officers (including Kingdom operatives), Police Officers or PCSOs, a Fixed 
Penalty Notice (FPN) was issued: but such direct sightings were rare.  The most 
prevalent modus operandi for public misuse of NO was on a group basis, in or 
near a motor vehicle. This made enforcement and fining through CCTV 
evidence particularly difficult to achieve, with only 2 FPNs and 1 caution for the 
offence successfully issued in Westgate car park throughout 2019. 
 
Joint working between CSU officers and the Dartford Community Police team, 
had led to the identification, mapping and monitoring of nitrous oxide ‘hotspots’, 
which had been subjected to a poster campaign advising against misuse of NO, 
the offence of supply under the Act, and the penalties attached to that offence. 
The Council’s waste contractor aimed to clear spent NO canisters from such 
‘hotspots’ within 2 days of notification by the public. 
 
Enforcement of the PSPO introduced by the Council in Town Ward in October 
2017 to: prohibit the ingestion, inhalation, injection, smoking, processing or 
otherwise use of intoxicating substances [including NO misuse]; had failed to 
secure a single prosecution under the Act to date. The issue of FPNs for the 
offence of littering [of spent NO canisters], remained the most effective 
deterrent measure in the Council’s armoury.  
  
In response to a number of subsequent questions from Members, Officers 
and Kent Police representatives gave the following advice, and confirmation 
on specific points where possible and relevant: 
 

 Central government had no stated policy concerning the misuse of NO. 
Case law was being employed by local authorities/ police as appropriate, 
given that nitrous oxide was not classed as a psychoactive substance 
under the Act, and misuse was not therefore an offence. Prosecutions 
for the ‘supply or intent to supply [nitrous oxide] to another’ under the Act 
remained difficult to obtain, given the preponderance of web-based 
sales; 

 Requesting Government to prohibitively tax the sale of NO canisters as 
a deterrent to misuse would be inappropriate, given that misuse was not 
an offense, and legitimate users e.g. food retailers and businesses would 
be unfairly penalised; 

 PSPOs were primarily a preventative measure, and the subsequent 
securing of convictions for NO misuse under the terms of a PSPO were 
notoriously difficult to obtain. The positive effect of the current PSPO in 

Page 77 Agenda Item 13



APPENDIX A 

force in Town Ward was a recorded reduction in littering in the town 
centre;  

 Educating youngsters on NO misuse was a key objective. Measures to 
achieve this included: the PCC’s initiative for a Police Cadet Unit in 
Dartford, targeting schools in the borough via the Council’s promotion of 
National Litter Day, and raising the topic in Dartford’s Youth Council;   

 Publication of ‘good news’ stories concerning the effective tackling of NO 
misuse in the borough was acknowledged as a usual tool, including via 
social media and Twitter for Councillors to re-tweet to their constituents. 

 
In response to concerns from the Chairman, over increased misuse of NO in 
Westgate car park in the ensuing warmer summer months, and the 
subsequent admittance of NO misusers into adjacent nightclubs, including 
and the responsibilities of door staff at those nightclubs to refuse such 
customers entrance; the CSM, CSO and the District Commander confirmed 
the following points: 
 

 Police resources could not be increased to target NO misuse in 
Westgate car park, in preference to tackling criminal activity taking 
place elsewhere during the hours of the night-time economy; 

 Door staff at the Atik nightclub (a DTAC member) continued to be 
proactive in advising CSU staff if they observed CO misuse and 
dumping of spent canisters from vehicles in Westgate. 

 
Members resolved to note the contents of the report, and the subsequent 
responses of CSU and Police officers at the meeting, but requested that the 
topic of ‘public misuse of nitrous oxide as a psychoactive substance’ remain 
on the Committee’s rolling Work Plan for further consideration in the future.  
 
Members also requested that a renewed invitation be sent to Public Health 
Kent to attend a future meeting of the Committee, to brief Members on the 
health implications of nitrous oxide inhalation.  
 
Item3: Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) 
Strategic Assessment 2019 
 
The Committee considered a report from the Community Safety Manager 
(CSM) which asked Members to note the priorities identified in the D&D 
CSP’s 2019 Strategic Assessment (SA) document (attached as Appendix A) 
as adopted by the CSP at its meeting on 16 January 2020, and incorporated 
into the CSP’s Community Safety Strategy (2019-22) at the that meeting. 
 
Members received a joint PowerPoint presentation from the CSM and the 
District Commander which summarised the key elements of the SA 2019 
document, including details of performance on a comparative basis between 
the two boroughs and with Kent as a whole. Home Office changes to certain 
crime categories had been in force for some 24 months, which made an 
annual comparative performance exercise [with 2018] now relevant and 
worthwhile.  It was not yet possible to say that the data for the 12 month 
period under review (1 October 2018 to 30 September 2019) had identified 
definite trends in crime categories, but the data had indicated ‘spikes’ in 
certain crime-types. Subsequent annual comparison exercises would be 

Page 78Agenda Item 13



APPENDIX A 

required to establish whether present ‘’spikes’ in certain crimes had 
developed into trends. 
 
The presentation summarised the 2019 SA document under the following 
categories: 
 
Key Priorities 
 

 Tacking Violent Crime including Domestic Abuse (DA) 

 Tackling Persistent Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) and Environmental 
Crime 

 Preventing Offending and Reducing Re-offending 

 Protecting Vulnerable People and Strengthening Communities 
 
Performance Summary  
 
Members were referred to the comparative tables in SA 2019 which 
summarised Performance in each Borough (and Kent as a whole) for 12 key 
crime-types on an annual basis. Changes in performance were indicated by 
green, red or blue arrows to indicate improvement, deterioration or no change 
in performance as appropriate. A Strength, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and 
Threats (SWOT) analysis was also provided to Members based on the data 
recorded within the 2019 SA process.  
The CSM and District Commander added the following detail and comment in 
relation to specific crime-types and areas of CSP operation in Dartford:  
Burglary Residential: had risen in in the period under review, following the 
re-categorisation of garages, sheds and outhouses as ‘dwellings’. Dartford 
was uniquely vulnerable to cross-border crime from Essex and the Metropolis, 
and co-operation with those police forces had intensified as part of the Kent 
Chief Constable’s Control Strategy, to tackle this crime which had a high 
negative impact on victims in terms of loss, vulnerability and safety. A further 
CC initiative had been the formation of North, West and East Kent detective 
teams of highly experienced officers who had made a series of key arrests.  
Theft from Vehicles: A ‘spike’ in the theft of tools from vehicles had been 
identified in the 2019 SA. But on the evidence of only 12 months data it was 
too early to label it as a crime trend; 
 Domestic Abuse (DA): Combating the rise in incidents of DA was a Kent 
Police Force priority. Measures being taken included better education of 
victims/potential victims and increasing awareness of DA and the surrounding 
issues leading to the crime. Victim reluctance and subsequent withdrawal of 
complaints, continued to make successful prosecutions difficult to achieve, 
despite ongoing work undertaken by the Vulnerability Investment Team (VIT). 
Prosecutions undertaken were victim-focussed, based on evidential 
assessments (irrespective of subsequent withdrawal of victim statements), 
and arrests for DA had risen. Where prosecutions were not secured, victims 
were sign-posted to available support services, including DA advisors working 
in police stations ‘out of hours’ to help victims on a 24 hour basis. 
 
Shoplifting: The Dartford Town against Crime (DTAC) Scheme had been 
successful in combating this crime in the period, supported by fresh initiatives 
instituted by the new DTAC Intelligence Manager, supported by the 

Page 79 Agenda Item 13



APPENDIX A 

deployment of 2 dedicated PCs in the Town Centre, which had helped to 
achieve the highest monthly arrest rate on record to date. 
Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB): Improved use of CPNs and CPWs had been 
costly, but effective.  
Strengths 
 
Continued funding by the Council of Dartford’s CSU operation had provided 
key stability in the period under review, allied to the provision of partial PCC 
funding of the Council’s CCTV system.  Funding for VAWG (Violence against 
Women and Girls) had also produced positive outcomes and enabled 
enhanced inter-action between Dartford and Gravesham.  
 
The Vulnerable and Organised Crime Fora had enabled Dartford CSU, Kent 
Police, Social Services, Health and Housing providers, and the DWP officers 
to work constructively together in the period under review. Quarterly meetings 
had also been held to tackle cross-border and gang-related crime, attended 
by Dartford’s CSO, a representatives from Gravesham CSU, Kent and Met 
Police Forces and the four adjacent London boroughs. Members of the 
Council’s Environmental Enforcement team had also benefited from regular 
attendance at the daily CSU briefing meeting, which were also open to 
Councillors to attend. 
 
MARAC 
 
Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAK) performance in Dartford 
was gauged by the number of repeat victims of DA who sought help. Both the 
number of DA and repeat DA victims had increased in Dartford in the 2019 
compared to 2018. However, it was seen as a positive that victims of DA 
continued to seek the support of MARAC services, and if the present rise in 
repeat victims continued, MARAC measures for Dartford would be re-
assessed.  
In a subsequent Q&A session with Members, Officers and Ken Police 
representatives confirmed the following principal points: 
 

 The allocation of further police resources for Dartford, would be 
considered by Kent Police’s Tactical Operations team, in the context of 
the PCC’s announcement to fund the recruitment of an addition 36 
PCSOs and 147 police officers for Kent as a whole.  In the interim, the 
District Commander was able to make monthly bids for increased PCSO 
resources on an ad-hoc basis; 

 Police patrols had been increased around the town centre between 
December 2019 and February 2020 in a concerted effort to combat 
crime, and co-operation with the Council’s CCTV team had helped to 
secure arrests; 

 A joint initiative had been undertaken by Kent police with British 
Transport and the Met and Essex Forces, to combat crime at Dartford 
railway station and in the town centre by criminals commuting into the 
Borough; 

 The Council’s decision to retain an in-house CCTV operation had paid 
significant dividends in terms of a high quality operation, with highly 
trained staff attuned to Dartford’s needs; 

 

Page 80Agenda Item 13



APPENDIX A 

The Committee resolved to note the contents of the Dartford and 
Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) Strategic Assessment 
2019 document, and the Partnership’s decision to adopt the priorities 
identified in SA 2019 into the CSP’s Community Safety Strategy (2019-
2022), as agreed by the  CSP at their meeting on 16 January 2020. 
 

Page 81 Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 82



APPENDIX B 

D A R T F O R D   B O R O U G H   C O U N C I L 

ANNUAL MEETING 
22 May 2019 

 
STANDING COMMITTEES, BOARDS AND PANELS 

OF THE COUNCIL 
 

 
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE  
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of 
Reference] 
 
Chairman:  Councillor C S McLean 
Vice-Chairman: Councillor A S Sandhu MBE 
Membership:  Councillors B Garden, A Gaskin, K J Grehan, P M Harman, 

D J Mote, and T Oliver. 
 
 
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE  
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of Reference] 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE: 
DELEGATED FUNCTIONS: 
 
General Provisions 
 
‘Crime and disorder’ is defined as including forms of crime and disorder that involve anti-social 
behaviour or other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment or the misuse of drugs, 
alcohol and other substances. 
 
1. To review and scrutinise the discharge of the crime and disorder functions of the 

responsible authorities (local authorities, fire and rescue authorities, police authorities, the 
police, primary care trusts) which comprise the Dartford and Gravesham Community 
Safety Partnership (the CSP).as set out in these Terms of Reference. 

 
2. To review and scrutinise the discharge of any other local crime and disorder matter related 

to the Council’s crime and disorder functions. 
 
3. To make reports or recommendations as appropriate, to the GAC, Cabinet, the CSP or 

any one or more responsible authority etc. 
 
4. To review responses from and monitor the action (if any), taken by the CSP, an individual 

responsible authority, Officers, GAC, Cabinet etc. 
 
Overview Functions 
 
5. No less than once in every twelve month period, to review strategies in connection with 

the discharge by the CSP of its crime and disorder functions and make reports or 
recommendations in accordance with para. 3 above. 

 
Scrutiny Functions 

Page 83 Agenda Item 13



 
6. No less than once in every twelve month period, to scrutinise decisions made, or action 

taken, by the CSP and the Council of its crime and disorder functions and make reports or 
recommendations in accordance with para. 3 above. 

 
7. To consider any local crime and disorder matter referred to the Committee by a local ward 

Member under the Councillor Call for Action provisions referred to in the Committee’s 
Protocol. 

 
 
 

 

Page 84Agenda Item 13



June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 1 

 
 
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE PROTOCOL  
 
‘Crime and disorder’ is defined as including forms of crime and disorder that involve anti-social 
behaviour or other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment or the misuse of drugs, alcohol 
and other substances. 
 
  
Introduction This Protocol recognises the division of executive and non-executive roles 

and responsibilities, the overview and scrutiny role performed by non-
executive Councillors and the part played by all Councillors in representing 
local communities. 
 

  
Terms of Reference To review and scrutinise, and make reports or recommendations, regarding 

the functioning of the responsible authorities which comprise the Dartford 
and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (the CSP): 
 
Dartford Borough Council [a responsible authority] 
Gravesham Borough Council [a responsible authority] 
Kent Police [a responsible authority] 
Kent County Council [a responsible authority] 
Kent Fire and Rescue Service [a responsible authority] 
Kent Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company [a 
responsible body]  
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group [a 
responsible authority] 
 

  

Guidelines (a) Terms of Reference agreed by the General Assembly of the 
 Council (the GAC); 

 (b) Standing Orders and Financial Regulations; 
 (c) Codes of Conduct; 
 (d) Secretary of State/Home Office guidance issued from time to 

 time. 
 

  
Committee 
accountability 

To the Council as the ultimate decision making body from which all of the 
other elements in the decision-making process derive their authority. 
 

  
Elected Member 
accountability 

Individual elected Members have a collective responsibility for the Council's 
functions.  This collective responsibility extends to a duty to ensure that the 
Council complies with the law and does not act unlawfully. 
 

  
Compliance 
principles 

The Committee will: 

 Comply with the Council's crime and disorder aims as stated from time 
to time in the Council's Strategic and Policy Framework; 

  Recognise the legitimate right of the Cabinet to provide political and 
operational leadership to the Council and will not attempt to usurp the 
power vested in the Cabinet by the GAC; 

  Recognise that Officers continue to owe a duty to all Members of the 
Council; 

Page 85 Agenda Item 13



June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 2 

  Guarantee the right of Officers to express their advice on matters 
within their areas of responsibility, particularly (but not exclusively) on 
technical professional issues.  Officers must not be pressurised to 
change their advice to suit political aspirations.  Questions to Officers 
must be within Officers' remit and will as far as possible be confined 
to questions of fact and explanation relating to policies and decisions 
within Officers' remit; 

  Will not criticise or adversely comment on any individual Officer by 
name; 

  Not attempt to thwart the Cabinet by engaging in vexatious or 
unnecessarily repetitive overview and scrutiny activities. 

 
Frequency of 
meetings 

No less than once in every twelve month period, the Committee will meet to 
review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken by the CSP and the 
responsible authorities (acting collectively or individually), in connection with 
their crime and disorder functions, as the Committee considers appropriate. 

 
Membership Committee membership cannot include any member of the Council’s 

Cabinet. 
  

The Overview and Scrutiny Process  

In accordance with its Terms of Reference, the Committee can only discharge overview and scrutiny 
ns functions relating to crime and disorder/community safety. 

 
  
1.What may be 
scrutinised 

 

1.1 decisions and/or actions of the CSP and the responsible authorities (either 
collectively or individually); 
 

1.2 the CSP’s annual strategic assessment to inform the Community Safety 
Plan; 
 

1.3 the CSP’s partnership plan; 
 

1.4 Councillor Calls for Action (CCfAs); 
 

1.5 crime and disorder/community safety related local improvement targets;  
 

1.6 subject to section U. of this Protocol, any other local crime and disorder 
matter related to the Council’s/Cabinet’s crime and disorder/community 
safety functions; 
 

1.7 items related to crime and disorder/community safety referred to in the 
Members' Information Bulletin; 
 

 NB: Overview and scrutiny of the CSP’s crime and disorder functions will 
not focus on day to day operational performance, which is the proper 
concerns of managers of the responsible authorities. 

1.8 matters related to the systemic failure in the discharge of crime and disorder 
functions irrespective of the fact that there is a right of recourse to a review 
or right of appeal conferred by or under any enactment (see section E.3). 

  
  

Page 86Agenda Item 13



June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 3 

2.What may be 
reviewed 

 

2.1 The matters referred to in sections 1.1 – 1.3 and 1.6 – 1.8 of this Protocol. 
  
A.Draw downs Draw downs for the purposes of scrutinising/reviewing 

decisions/actions of the CSP, responsible authorities, Cabinet etc. 
and/or the scrutiny/review of the effects/outcomes of a decision post 
implementation 

 
A.1 For each meeting of the Committee: 

 
 through the Chairman of the Committee, up to two items in total for the 
Political Group on the Council forming the administration on the Council; 

 
  through the Chairman of the Committee, up to two items in total for the 

Political Group on the Council forming the largest party in opposition on 
the Council; 

 
  through the Chairman of the Committee, one item only for any other 

Political Groups on the Council, dealt with on a ‘first come first served 
basis’. 

 
  In cases of genuine urgency, the Chairman may authorise more than the 

allocated number of draw downs per Political Group on the Council, 
referred to this section A.1   

 
A.2 Each Committee meeting may draw down for overview and scrutiny 

purposes, no more than five items in total.  These five items may comprise a 
combination of items relating respectively, to a Call-in, CCfA, the overview 
and scrutiny of decision(s)/actions of the CSP and the responsible authorities 
(either collectively or individually), Cabinet/Officers, local improvement 
targets etc.  Whatever combination is applied, the Committee is restricted to 
the overview and scrutiny of five items in total, per Committee meeting. 

 
 A.3 (a) A draw down(s) must be on written notice to Member Services by no 

later than noon on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear 
days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from 
midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on 
which the meeting is held). 

 
 (b) The need (if any) for participants (CSP representatives, Members, 

Officers, and other external participants) to appear before the 
Committee will be notified to Member Services by no later than noon on 
the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen 
weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight 
excluding bank and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is 
held). 

 
A.4 Where the Committee wish to review/scrutinise an item for the purposes of 

examining the effect and outcomes of the CSP and/or the responsible 
authority, Cabinet etc. decision post implementation, drawing down the item 
may need to be delayed to a future date.  

 
  
 NB: The focus of the review/scrutiny in such circumstances will be 

concerned with the effects and outcomes of the decision whether or not 
reference was made to effects or outcomes (potential or perceived) in 
any background document before the Committee. 

 
  

Page 87 Agenda Item 13



June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 4 

A.5 
 

 

 

A.6 

 

When more than one Political Group on the Council notifies a draw down of 
the same item, the Political Group which first gave notice in accordance with 
section A.1 of this Protocol, will lead at the meeting, on the discussion of the 
item and the Chairman will exercise his/her discretion about the right of the 
Political Groups to sum up. 
 
The Managing Director, in consultation with the Strategic Director (External 
Services), will make the final decision on the rejection of a draw down, with 
reasons recorded in writing.  In the absence of either the Managing Director 
or Strategic Director (External Services), the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services) will be consulted by the other. 

 
  

B. Requests for 
information 

 

B.1 Any Committee member may make requests for information, on written 
notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before the 
Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 
24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and the following will 
apply.  The request for information will: 
 

  detail the item(s) to be drawn down, supported by reasons for the draw 
down(s); 

 
  the nature of the information requested e.g. a full report from the CSP, 

background information, research, data, statistics, etc.; 
 

  if applicable, identify the need for participants (CSP representatives, 
Members, Officers and/or other external participants) to appear before 
the Committee (refer to the general principles on participation detailed in 
section D of this Protocol); 

 
  provide an indication if at all possible, of the questions and the likely topics 

to be raised on the item(s); 
 

  provide an indication if at all possible, of whether the request for 
information is for the purposes of informing the debate or for the purposes 
of putting questions to participants. 

 
B.2 On receipt of a request for information, Member Services will notify the 

Strategic Director (External Services) and links officers of the CSP and 
responsible authorities. Where the request for information relates to a 
Cabinet decision/action, the Strategic Director (External Services) and the 
Cabinet Chairman will be notified accordingly.  
 

B.3 Where information requested is readily available and routinely collected, it 
will be provided within 14 days of receipt of the request, save that if some or 
all the information cannot reasonable be provided within the 14 day period, 
the information will be provided as soon as reasonably possible and in any 
event, no later than 7 clear days’ (seven weekdays i.e. 7 periods of 24 hours 
running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and 
the day on which the meeting is held).   
 

B.4 Information will be depersonalised, unless the identification of an individual 
is necessary or appropriate in order to enable the Committee to properly 
exercise its powers or disclosure is permitted by or under the Data Protection 
Act 2018.   
 

Page 88Agenda Item 13



June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 5 

  
B.5 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to prejudice legal 

proceedings or current or future operations of the CSP and the responsible 
authorities, whether acting collectively or individually. 
 

B.6 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to constitute a breach 
of confidence actionable by any person. 
 

B.7 Schedule 12A, Parts 1-3 of the Local Government Act 1972 as regards the 
categories of exempt information and reg.5 of the Local Authorities 
(Overview and Scrutiny Committees) (England) Regulations 2012 and 
Standing Order 46(2) as regards confidential information, will apply to the 
proceedings of the Committee. 

 
B.8 The overview and scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the 

receipt of information, particularly where requests for additional information 
are made or where the information requested is voluminous and/or where 
there are costs implications associated with providing the information.  In 
these circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman 
accordingly. 

 
B.9 To facilitate the overview and scrutiny process, the CSP and responsible 

authorities are under a duty to pro-actively provide information to the 
Committee on request (reg.4 of the Local Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees) (England) (Regulations 2012). 
 

  

C. Call-in of Cabinet 
decisions 

 

C.1 This Call-in procedure will be operated in such a way as not to have a 
concomitant negative effect on the efficiency of Cabinet decision-making. 
 
This Call-in procedure will only apply to Cabinet decisions/actions, subject 
to the restrictions/limitations detailed in sections C.8, C.9, C.11, C.13, C.15 
and C.16 of this Protocol. 
 

C.2 (a) Call-in will be by three Members of the Committee (involving 
representation of at least two political groups), in writing, to Member 
Services by no later than noon on the day before the  Cabinet meeting.  
Member Services will notify the Cabinet Chairman of the Call-in. 

 
 (b) Once a member of the Committee has signed a Call-in, he/she may not 

do so again until a period of six months has expired. 
 

C.3 A special meeting of the Committee may be called in accordance with the 
rules detailed in Standing Order 27 (Special Meetings of the Cabinet, 
Committees and Boards) and will be held before the next meeting of the 
Cabinet (Cabinet meetings are scheduled on a four weekly basis), with a 
view to reporting to the next Cabinet meeting. Where it is not possible for the 
Committee to report to the next Cabinet meeting, the Committee Chairman 
will consult with the Cabinet Chairman and agree a date for referring the Call-
in back to the Cabinet for consideration/reconsideration. 
 
Referring the Call-in back to the Cabinet will not be delayed by more than 4 
weeks from the date of the notice of Call-in. 

 

Page 89 Agenda Item 13



June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 6 

  
C.4 Once a Call-in has been effected, the Cabinet may at its discretion, either: 

 
 (a) defer consideration of the proposed decision and/or action (the Deferred 

Decision) to its next scheduled meeting or where it is not possible for 
the Committee to report to the next scheduled meeting of the Cabinet, 
defer consideration until receipt of the Committee's report; or 

 (b) take the decision and/or action which decision/action will stand as 
suspended (the Suspended Decision) until the next scheduled meeting 
of the Cabinet or where the Call-in is referred to the GAC by the 
Committee, until referred back to the Cabinet by the GAC for 
reconsideration. 

 
C.5 Following consideration of the Call-in, the Committee will, on a report (setting 

out the Committee's concerns, recommendations, conclusions, suggestions 
and/or comments), either refer the Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision 
back to the Cabinet for consideration/reconsideration, or request a debate 
on the Call-in at the next ordinary meeting of the GAC, or if necessary, at an 
extraordinary meeting of the GAC, but subject to the rules detailed in 
Standing Order 1.(3) on the convening of extraordinary meetings. 

 
C.6 On receipt of the Committee's report: 

 
 (a) the Cabinet will consider/reconsider the Deferred Decision/ Suspended 

Decision and the contents of the Committee's report before coming to a 
final decision. Providing the Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision is 
not contrary to the budget or policy framework, the Cabinet may or may 
not amend the Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision before reaching 
a final decision and implementing it; or 

 (b) the GAC will consider the Call-in and may object to the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision in which case the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision will be referred back to the Cabinet (with 
the GAC's views) for consideration/reconsideration.  Unless the 
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision is contrary to the budget or 
policy framework, the Cabinet may choose whether to amend the 
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision or not before reaching a final 
decision and implementing it. 

 
 NB:  The GAC has no locus to make a decision in respect of a Cabinet 

decision unless the Cabinet decision is contrary to or not wholly 
consistent with the budget or policy framework agreed/adopted by the 
Council. 

 
C.7 Following the Cabinet's consideration of a Deferred Decision or 

reconsideration of a Suspended Decision, the decisions(s) will take effect i.e. 
be implemented immediately. In addition, a Suspended Decision will become 
effective: 

 

Page 90Agenda Item 13



June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 7 

  
 (a) on the date of the GAC meeting where the Call-in has been referred to 

the GAC and the GAC does not object to the Suspended Decision 
and/or does not refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet. 

 
 (b) on the date of the Committee meeting, where the Committee does not 

refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet or to the GAC.  
 

C.8 A Call-in (i.e. the decision itself) cannot be the subject of further scrutiny after 
implementation, pursuant to the draw down mechanism detailed in section A 
of this Protocol. 

 
 NB: This restriction does not preclude a subsequent draw-down of the 

subject matter of the decision for purposes related for example, to topic 
scrutiny or reporting on matters of local concern. 

 
C.9 This Call-in procedure will not apply to urgent Cabinet decisions and/or action 

to be taken by the Cabinet which need to be implemented urgently.  The 
definition of 'urgency' means any matter of immediate urgency (i.e. where 
any delay likely to be caused by the Call-in would prejudice the Council's or 
the public's interest), making the prompt exercise of the powers of the 
Cabinet, in consultation with the Managing Director and the Monitoring 
Officer/Chief Finance Officer desirable and/or necessary and which cannot 
await the next meeting of the Cabinet, or the next ordinary meeting of the 
GAC. 

 
 NB: The definition of 'urgency' as detailed above, excludes urgent key 

decisions under Standing Order 54(8) (Special Urgency) and urgent 
departure decisions under Standing Order 55(3) (Decisions outside the 
Budget or Policy Framework). 

 
C.10 Cabinet decisions and/or actions to be taken which are not subject to Call-in 

will take effect, i.e. be implemented immediately. 
 

C.11 Subject to the draw down rules in section A.2 of this Protocol, the Committee 
may only Call-in two decisions per three-month period.   

 
C.12 Key decisions of Officers, area committees/joint arrangements (referred to in 

the Cabinet's Forward Plan) may be subject to individual Call-in in 
accordance with the procedure detailed in this Protocol. 

 
C.13 Call-in will not apply to urgent departure decisions (refer to Standing Order 

55(3)) and urgent key decisions (refer to Standing Order 54(8)). 
 

C.14 The rules detailed in sections B and D of this Protocol will apply to an 
individual Call-in. 

 
C.15 A CCfA does not provide an additional opportunity for a Cabinet decision to 

be challenged.  A previous Call-in will only be relevant, if the circumstances 
of the Call-in and the CCfA are clearly different.  
 

  

C.16 The operation of this Call-in procedure will be monitored annually by the 
Monitoring Officer and if necessary, a report submitted to the GAC with 
proposals for review. 

 
  

Page 91 Agenda Item 13



June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 8 

D.Participants  
D.1 The nature of a Call-in, the item to be drawn down or the nature of the topic 

under review/scrutiny will generally determine who participates in the 
proceedings of the Committee. 
 

  

D.2 Persons required to attend if summoned 
 

Subject to the rules on participation at section D.7 of this Protocol, the giving 
of 14 clear days’ notice, (fourteen weekdays i.e. 14 periods of 24 hours 
running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and 
the day on which the meeting is held) and information being provided as to 
the nature and scope of the overview and scrutiny: 
 

 Council participants 
 

Cabinet members and Council Officers  may be required to attend meetings 
of the Committee, to give evidence, make representations and/or answer 
questions (Section 21(13)(a) of the Local Government Act 2000). 
 

 CSP participants 
 
Representatives of the CSP, responsible authorities and co-ordinating body 
invited (but cannot be compelled) to attend Committee meetings (Section 
21(13)(b) of the Local Government Act 2000). 
 
 

D.3 Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc.  
 

Subject to the rules on participation at section D.7 of this Protocol, members 
of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc. may be invited 
(but cannot be compelled) to attend the Committee, to make representations, 
answer questions or give evidence.  
 
Where the Committee seeks to engage with the third sector (voluntary and 
community groups), it will respect the principles of the Council’s Compact. 
 

D.4 Expert advisors and assessors  
 
The Committee may consider the available options for future direction in the 
development of crime and disorder policies and may appoint experts, 
advisors and assessors to assist the Committee in the process. 
 

D.5 
 

 

 

 

D.5A 
 

Lead Members  
 
Subject to the rules detailed in section D.7(a) to (c) of this Protocol, Lead 
Members who are members of the Committee may be requested (but cannot 
be compelled) to make representations, answer questions or give evidence 
on their respective portfolios.  
 
Councillors who are not members of the Committee 

 
The rules detailed in Standing Order 36, will apply to the attendance at 
Committee meetings, of Councillors who are not members of the Committee. 

 
D.6 The overview and scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the 

availability of a participant to attend, when summoned or invited.  In these 
circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman 
accordingly. 
 

Page 92Agenda Item 13



June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 9 

D.7 Participation Rules 
 

(a) The nomination of specific Cabinet members and Lead Members as 
participants and any necessary substitutions, will be within the discretion 
of the Cabinet Chairman and, in relation to Officer participants, within 
the discretion of the Managing Director. 

 
(b) Subject to paras. (a) and (c) of this section D.7 and section V.6 of this 

Protocol, any Lead Member(s) may attend meetings of the Committee 
and with the consent of the Chairman, make representations, answer 
questions or give evidence on the subject matter of their relevant 
portfolio.  

 
(c) Lead Members who are members of the Committee cannot be involved 

in the scrutiny process of their relevant portfolio unless they are 
substituted on the Committee and in doing so, the Lead Member’s role 
is limited to making representations, answering questions or giving 
evidence on the subject matter. Once substituted, the Lead Member, as 
an ordinary member of the Committee, cannot vote at the meeting even 
if he/she is able to attend at a later stage of the meeting and can only 
speak with the permission of the Chairman. 

 
(d) The Managing Director may restrict the attendance of Council Officers 

to above a certain grade or in accordance with other criteria to ensure 
that junior Officers are not put under undue pressure.  This restriction is 
consistent with the European Convention on Human Rights. 

 
(e) (i) Subject to pars.(i) and (iii) below, the Chairman reserves the right 

(supported by detailed reasoning to the Cabinet Chairman or Managing 
Director (as appropriate)), to strongly request the attendance of a 
named Cabinet member(s)/Lead Member(s), Council Officer(s), 
representatives of the CSP and/or responsible authorities as 
participants in the proceedings of the Committee, subject to written 
notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before 
the Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank 
and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held). 

 
 (ii) The CSP’s representative will be its Chairman or Vice-Chairman. 
 

(iii) The nomination/appointment by the responsible authorities of 
representatives as participants in the overview and scrutiny process, 
and substitutions, will be at the discretion of their governing bodies or 
as detailed in their constitutions. 

 
(f) Council Officers who are subject to disciplinary proceedings and/or 

investigation will not be called as participants. 
 
(g) When questioning participants, due regard will be had to the 

Compliance Principles referred to in this Protocol and to paras.(h) and 
(i) below.  Participants may leave the meeting on the conclusion of their 
particular issues. 

Page 93 Agenda Item 13



June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 10 

   

 (h) Participants may decline to answer questions in open session of the 
Committee on the grounds that the answer might disclose information 
that would be exempt or confidential under the access to information 
provisions.  In that event, the Committee may resolve to exclude the 
public and the press in accordance with Standing Orders in order that 
the question may be answered in private session. 

 
 (i) Participants are not obliged to answer any question which they would be 

entitled to refuse to answer in a court of law for example any question 
relating to a participant’s past conduct/actions which could not be 
answered without acknowledging or referring to possible inappropriate 
conduct/actions/inactions. 

 
 (j) To better inform the Committee, participants may be required to provide 

their evidence in writing and may be questioned by the Committee on 
that evidence. 

 
  
 (k) The substance (rather than the detail) of oral evidence and participants' 

responses will be documented by the Committee Co - ordinator and 
circulated to them for comment, before the next meeting of the 
Committee. 

 
 (l)Participants may be asked to explain: 

 
 (i) what the policies are; 

 
 (ii) the justification and objectives of those policies; 

 
 (iii) the extent to which those objectives may have been met; 

 
 (iv) how administrative factors may have affected both the choice of the 

policy measures and the manner of their implementation. 
 

 (m)Participants may be asked explain and justify; 
 

  advice they have given prior to decisions being taken; 
 

  decisions they themselves have taken under delegations from the 
Cabinet, CSP etc. 

 
 NB:As far as possible, Council Officers should avoid being drawn into 

discussions on the merits of alternative policies where this is politically 
contentious.  Any comment by Council Officers on the Cabinet's policies 
and actions should always be consistent with the requirement for Officers 
to be politically neutral. 

 
 

  

Page 94Agenda Item 13



June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 11 

E. Councillor Calls for 
Action (CCfA) 

 

E.1 Subject to the ‘excluded matters’ rule detailed in section E.2 and the 
restrictions detailed in sections E4, E5, E.7 and E10 of this Protocol, any 
ward Member may refer to the Committee for scrutiny, any crime and 
disorder matter. 
 
The flowchart at Annex 1 describes the CCfA procedure. 

 
  
E.3 A matter does not fall within a description of an ‘excluded matter’ if it consists 

of an allegation that a function for which the Council is responsible has not 
been discharged at all or that its discharge has failed or is failing on a 
systematic basis, notwithstanding the fact that the allegation specifies or 
refers to an excluded matter (reg.4. the Overview and Scrutiny (Reference 
by Councillors) (Excluded Matters) (England) Order 2012). 

 
E.4 Referral of a genuine, significant and persistent local community concern by 

the local ward Member as a CCfA for scrutiny is a measure of last resort, 
once other approaches for informal resolution have been exhausted.  Local 
ward Members are advised to seek advice from the relevant Director before 
agreeing to champion a CCfA. 

 
E.5 The CCfA may be referred for scrutiny on behalf of a constituent, or on the 

local ward Member’s own initiative, providing the local ward Member has the 
support of the local community and the Member does not have a disclosable 
pecuniary interests or prejudicial interest in the matter.   

 
E.6 The Committee may receive a CCfA via the Cabinet in circumstances where 

the local ward Member has declined to champion the CCfA and the 
constituent has then referred the issue to the Cabinet (section 19(5) of the 
Police and Justice Act 2006).  
 

E.7 Subject to the draw down rules at section A.2 of this Protocol, the referral of 
a CCfA to the Committee will be limited to one CCfA per meeting.   

 
E.8 The referral of a CCfA to the Committee by a local ward Member will be on 

written notification to Member Services, by no later than noon on the 16th day 
before a Committee meeting, i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and 
public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held). 

 
E.9 The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 

attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol will apply.  
 

E.10 The acceptance of a CCfA will be at the discretion of the Committee.  In 
considering whether or not to accept a CCfA, the Committee may have 
regard to any representations made by the local ward Member as to why it 
would be appropriate for the Committee to accept the CCfA. 

 
E.11 If the Committee decides not to accept the CCfA, Member Services will within 

5 days’ of the meeting, formally notify the ward Member of the Committee’s 
decision and the reasons for it.  The Committee’s decision is final.  There is 
no right of appeal. 

 
E.12 The local ward Member may address the Committee (but not vote) on the 

matter raised.   
 

Page 95 Agenda Item 13



June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 12 

E.13 Following consideration of a CCfA, the Committee may report or recommend 
accordingly to the CSP and the responsible authorities (either collectively or 
individually), GAC and/or the Cabinet.  The rules detailed in sections H and 
M of this Protocol, will apply. 
 

E.14 The Committee may submit a copy of its report or recommendations to the 
local ward Member or await the CSP’s and the responsible authorities’ (either 
collectively or individually), GAC’s or the Cabinet’s response before doing 
so.   
 

  

F. Committee member 
business 

Subject to the rules on draw down detailed in section A.2 of this Protocol, 
any Committee or (sub-committee) member has the legal right [Section 
21A(1) of the Local Government Act 2000] to place any matter relevant to 
the Committee’s functions on the agenda.  This right will be exercised by 
giving written notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th 
day before a Committee meeting i.e.16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and 
public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).   
 
The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 
attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol, will apply.  
 

  

GH. The duty to have 
regard to reports/ 
recommendations 

 
 

G.1 
The CSP, responsible authorities and co-ordinating body may be required by 
the Committee to have regard to the Committee's Overview or Scrutiny 
Report and/or recommendations (Section 9FF(2) of the Local Government 
Act 2000).   
 

G.2 
Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations have 
been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be re-
addressed fully by the Committee. 
 

  

H. Co-option 
 

H.1 
The Committee may recommend to the GAC, the appointment/co-option of 
additional persons to serve on the Committee or its sub-committee, subject 
to the following: 
 

 
(i) a person co-opted to serve on the Committee/sub-committee will not be 

entitled to vote on any particular matter, unless the Committee so 
determines and subject to the GAC’s permission in advance, on voting 
rights. 

 

 
(ii) a co-opted person's membership may be limited to the exercise of the 

Committee's/sub-committee’s powers in relation to a particular matter or 
type of matter. 

 

 
(iii) the Committee will only co-opt an employee, officer or member of the 

responsible authorities comprising the CSP to serve on the 
Committee/sub-committee, providing this person: 

 
  

Page 96Agenda Item 13



June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 13 

 
(a) is not the chairman or vice chairman of the CSP or the nominated 

representative/member or substitute of the responsible authorities ; 
and 

(b) is not a Cabinet member (or an executive member of Kent County 
Council or Gravesham Borough Council). 

 

 
(iv) the membership of a person co-opted to serve on the Committee/sub-

committee, may be withdrawn at any time by the Committee. 
 

 
(v) [Voting] Co-optees will comply with the Council’s [Member] Code of 

Conduct set out in Part 5 of the Constitution. 
 

 
(vi) Co-optees will have access to exempt/confidential information 

considered/to be considered by the Committee.  The rules detailed in 
section Q.4 of this Protocol, will apply. 

 
J.2 Co-optees will count towards establishing a quorum. 

 

  

K. Work programme 
 

K.1 
The Committee will be responsible for setting its own work programme and 
in doing so, will take into account wishes of Committee members who are 
not members of the largest political group on the Council. 
 

K.2 
Duplication of activities or major additions to the Committee’s work 
programme will be avoided. 
 

K.3 
The CSP and the responsible authorities will be informed in advance, of 
overview and scrutiny exercises (including their scope).  
  

K.4 
The Committee will receive an annual report on its workings and may make 
recommendations for future work programmes. 
 

 

L. Appointment of 
independent experts, 
advisers/assessors 

L.1 

 

 

 

L.2 

 
 
 
 
 
Subject to available resources and GAC authority, the Committee may invite 
independent experts, advisers and assessors to contribute to the overview 
and scrutiny process undertaken by it, its sub-committees or task groups.  
Independent experts, advisers and assessors will have no voting rights and 
will not count for the purposes of establishing a quorum.  
 
The criteria for selection will be; 
 
(a) candidates must be able to demonstrate to the Chairman an expert 

knowledge of the subject in question; 
(b) candidates will have no contact with the Borough Council, which could 

be seen as prejudicial to their independence; 
(c) (c) candidates will not be employees of the Council, a person/organisation 

contracted to provide services on behalf of the Council or an employee, 
officer or member of the CSP, responsible authorities or co-ordinating 
body. 

 

Page 97 Agenda Item 13



June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 14 

  
L.3  Independent experts, advisers and assessors will be expected to follow the 

principles referred to in the [Member] Code of Conduct, including the 
requirement to declare interests and respecting confidentiality. 
 

L.4 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will receive payment in 
accordance with a standard scale of fees, to be agreed by the Cabinet, plus 
travel and other reasonable/legitimate expenses. 
 

L.5 Independent experts, advisers and assessors may at the Committee’s 
discretion, remain in the meeting room when confidential and/or exempt 
information is being discussed. 
 

L.6 In considering independent experts’, advisers’ and assessors’ 
recommendations, the Committee will have regard to the advice of the 
Council's Statutory Officers (Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer) who are legally bound respectively, to report to the GAC 
on inter alia: 

  the corporate approach of the Council; 

 contravention of law and/or Standing Orders, Financial Regulations; 

 unlawfulness, maladministration or injustice; 

 vires and propriety of expenditure; 

 overall integrity of the budget, capital and revenue and the fiduciary duty 
and responsibility of all Members (Section 112 and 114 Reports). 

 
NB: The GAC retains the ultimate responsibility of censure. 
 

M. Overview or  
Scrutiny reports  
and/or recommendations 

 

M.1 All comments, conclusions and recommendations to the CSP, responsible 
authorities, GAC and/or Cabinet (referred to in this part of the Protocol as the 
‘relevant body’ will be accompanied by an Overview or Scrutiny Report 
prepared by the Committee Co-ordinator, in consultation with the appropriate 
Officer and the Committee Chairman under the existing rules for the 
preparation of committee reports. 
 

M.2 The Overview or Scrutiny Report will include: 
(a) an explanation of the matter reviewed or scrutinised; 
(b) a summary of the evidence considered; 
(c) a list of the participants involved in the overview and scrutiny exercise; 
(d) any recommendations on the matter reviewed or scrutinised, including 

where applicable, an indication of the costs associated with 
implementing the recommendations; 

(e) a summary of the views of Members dissenting from the majority 
recommendation(s); 

(f)  the mechanism for monitoring progress in implementing the 
recommendation(s). 

 
M.3 All motions (whether passed, rejected, opposed etc.) by the Committee will 

be detailed in the Overview or Scrutiny Report. 
 

M.4 The Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations will be published 
and sent to the link officer of the relevant body. 
 

Page 98Agenda Item 13



June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 15 

M.5 The CSP, responsible authorities and co-ordinating body are under a legal 
obligation to consider the Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or 
recommendations and respond to the Committee within 28 days (or as soon 
as reasonably possible) of the date of the Overview or Scrutiny Report, 
indicating what (if any) action the body proposes to take (see section H.1 
above).  The same principles shall be applied to Cabinet and GAC.  
 
Relevant bodies may fully accept, partially accept or reject the Overview or 
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations.  If the relevant body partially 
accepts or rejects the Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations, 
the body must detail its reasons. 
 

M.6 The Committee Chairman, may at the request of the relevant body, attend 
its meeting and present the Overview or Scrutiny Report and answer 
questions. 
 

M.7 If in disagreement with the decision of the Committee, any Councillor(s) who 
expresses a minority view, may through the Committee Chairman, refer a 
'minority view' report to the relevant body for consideration and provided they 
do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in the 
matter under discussion, the Councillor may be requested to attend the 
body’s meeting and present their views and answer questions.   
 

M.8 If at all possible, Overview or Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations 
should be included on the agenda of the next available meeting of the 
relevant body unless the matter which is the subject of the Overview or 
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations is scheduled to be considered by 
the relevant body within a period of four weeks from the date the Committee 
issues the Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations.  In such 
circumstances, the Committee's Overview or Scrutiny 
Report/recommendations will be considered by the relevant body in the 
context of their deliberations on the substantive item on the body’s agenda. 
 

M.9 Only one Overview or Scrutiny Report per meeting of the relevant body may 
be submitted by the Committee for consideration. 
 

M.10 Following receipt of the relevant body’s response, the Committee may, by 
motion, move 'that the matter be referred back to the [named] relevant body' 
either 'for further information' or 'for further consideration' or as the case may 
be, with an instruction that some specified action be taken or that the 
Committee considers that no further action is necessary. 
 

M.11 Overview or Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations to the GAC will be 
copied to the Cabinet Chairman.  The GAC will not consider an Overview or 
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations until the Cabinet has had the 
opportunity to comment. 
 

M.12 Local ward Members and other non - executive Councillors will have the 
opportunity at GAC meetings, to raise issues either through questions, 
motions or through policy and other debates.  
 

  

Page 99 Agenda Item 13



June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 16 

N. Cabinet Key  
Decisions 

Where the Cabinet has decided not to include a particular decision in the 
forward plan, but the Committee believes that it should have been included, 
the Committee may require the Cabinet to make a report on the decision to 
the GAC in accordance with Standing Order 54(9).  The Committee's 
consideration of any such matter will be in public, but subject to the rules on 
confidential and exempt information. 
 

  

P. Monitoring Officer 
reports  

The Committee may consider whether it would be appropriate, following 
receipt of a Monitoring Officer report to the Cabinet (and copied to all 
Members of the Council), to hold a short enquiry into the matter which is the 
subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it and to 
recommend accordingly to the Cabinet. 
 

  

Q. Consideration of  
items at meetings 

 

Q.1 Without prejudice to the rules detailed in Standing Orders on the 
consideration of urgent items, items will not be considered at a meeting of 
the Committee unless included on the agenda for the meeting.  The order 
of business will be as set out in Standing Order 58(10)(a)(i) to and including 
(iii) and the business as otherwise set out in the agenda in accordance with 
Standing Order 58(10)(a)(iv) will be in the order of: 
 

  

  Call – in; 
 

  decisions and/or actions of the CSP and the responsible authorities 
(either collectively or individually); 

 
  the CSP’s annual strategic assessment;  

 
  the CSP’s partnership plan; 

 
  Draw downs; 

 
  CCfA; 

 
  Key Decisions; 

 
  any other local crime and disorder matter related to the 

Council’s/Cabinet’s crime and disorder/community safety functions; 
 

  Officer decisions pursuant to Standing Order 38 (Delegation of Urgent 
and Routine Matters); 

 
  Minority member business; 

 
  Scrutiny Committee member business; 

 
  Monitoring progress of agreed actions; 

 
  Members’ Information Bulletin.  

 

Page 100Agenda Item 13



June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 17 

Q.2 The order of business may be altered by the Committee in accordance with 
the rules detailed in Standing Order 58(10)(b). 
 

Q.3 Cabinet decisions and Officer decisions under Standing Order 38 
(Delegation of Urgent and Routine Matters) and under the Scheme of 
Delegations to Officers, cannot be reversed or amended. 
 

Q.4 Voting Committee members have a right of access to exempt or confidential 
information considered by the Cabinet, but only if it is relevant to an issue(s) 
before the Committee (Standing Order 51(4)). 
 

Q.5 In exercising its powers, the Committee must respect, support and not 
compromise the duties and responsibilities of other Committees, Boards and 
Panels of the Council. If a scrutiny investigation reveals potential disciplinary 
and probity issues, the Committee will refer the matter to the Managing 
Director. 
 

Q.6 Litigation proceedings by or against the Council must not be prejudiced by 
any scrutiny investigation.  In the circumstances, it may be necessary to defer 
further consideration of the matter until the proceedings have been 
dispensed with. 
 

  

Q.7 Consultation undertaken by the Committee in accordance with its Terms of 
Reference will not compromise/prejudice consultations undertaken by any 
other Committee/Board of the Council.  
 

  

R. Conduct of  
meetings 

  
 

R.1 Meetings will be open to the public and the press unless confidential and/or 
exempt information is being considered.  The Access to Information 
Procedure Rules detailed in Standing Orders will apply. 
 

R.2 The access to information provisions relating to access to and inspection of 
agenda and connected reports and minutes as detailed in Standing Orders 
will apply. 
 

R.3 Minutes will be drawn up and recorded in accordance with the rules detailed 
in Standing Order 15. 
 

  

S. Task groups/ 
informal Member  
working groups 
 

 

S.1 Task groups (or informal Member working groups) may be appointed at any 
time by the Committee to examine specific issues in detail.  Task groups will 
be time limited and will tend to work more flexibly and informally. 
 

S.2 The Committee may appoint any of its Members to work informally with other 
bodies or authorities etc., particularly in relation to external or cross-authority 
overview and scrutiny matters, where this will contribute to the Committee’s 
functions. 
 

  

Page 101 Agenda Item 13



June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 18 

S.3 Whilst a task group cannot substitute for the Committee or exercise the 
formal powers associated respectively with overview and scrutiny (which is 
the preserve of the Committee and its sub-committees), the task group may 
contribute to or inform the overview or scrutiny process. 
 

S.4 Task groups will be made up of no less than 3 Committee members.  The 
political balance rules need not apply. 
 

S.5 Because of the relative informality of task group meetings, and the evidence 
gathering nature of much of the discussion, chairing the meetings will involve 
different skills from those required by traditional committee meetings.  The 
task group Chairman will need to be sure that all task group members are 
clear about the purpose of the meeting and are given the opportunity to 
pursue a line of questioning – via a number of supplementary questions if 
necessary. 
 

S.6 The task group may obtain information through different media, including 
face-to-face interviews; questionnaires; focus groups; site visits; reports; and 
written submissions from participants.  

 
S.7 Participants will be offered the opportunity to comment on the accuracy of 

the record of their attendance.  
 

S.8 Once the evidence is taken, the Committee Co-ordinator will draft a report 
and recommendations to reflect the preliminary views of the task group.  The 
draft report and recommendations will be agreed by the task group Chairman 
before it is circulated to the Cabinet Chairman and the Strategic Director 
(External Services) for comment. 
 

S.9 The Committee will consider the task group’s report and/or 
recommendations and any comments from the Cabinet Chairman and/or 
Strategic Director (External Services). 
 

S.10 The Committee will refer the task group’s report and/or recommendations to 
the relevant body i.e. CSP, responsible authorities, GAC and/or Cabinet with 
a note of the debate and any changes arising from the debate. 
 
The rules detailed in sections G, H and M of this Protocol will apply. 
 

S.11 The Committee may refer the issue back to the task group for further 
consideration. 
 

  
T. Sub-committees  
T.1 The Committee may appoint sub-committees in accordance with the rules 

detailed in Standing Order 58(1)(4) and may delegate any of its functions to 
its sub-committees. 
 

T.2 Sub-committees may exercise the formal powers associated respectively 
with overview and scrutiny. 
 

  

Page 102Agenda Item 13



June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 19 

U. Regulatory bodies  
U.1 The Committee will not scrutinise individual decisions made by the 

Committees, Boards and Panels entrusted to discharge the Council’s 
regulatory functions (the Regulatory Bodies).  Scrutiny of decisions of 
Regulatory Bodies is clearly not an alternative to normal appeals 
procedures.  However, the Committee may make reports and/or 
recommendations in accordance with section M. of this Protocol. 
 

U.2 Scrutiny of the discharge of a Regulatory Body’s functions will be restricted 
to one per Committee meeting on notice by the Committee Chairman.  The 
rules detailed in section A. of this Protocol will apply.  
 

U.3 Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations have 
been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be re-
addressed fully by the Committee. 
 

  

V. Declarations of  
interest 

 

V.1 Elected Councillors and voting co-optees are subject to the [Member] Code 
of Conduct. 
 

V.2 Representatives from the responsible authorities and other partner 
organisations are subject to their respective professional codes of conduct.  
 

  
V.3 Participants who are not bound by codes of conduct will be subject to the 

Nolan principles of transparency and accountability. 
 

V.4 All participants (including Council Officers) summoned or invited to attend 
Committee meetings, will declare any interests and the nature of the 
interests at the beginning of the meeting or as soon as the interests become 
apparent to them.  
 

V.5 No Committee members may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which 
they have been directly involved. 
 
The Committee’s policy development and/or review work may draw directly 
from the outputs of its scrutiny functions (scrutiny of Cabinet decisions and/or 
proposed decisions).  It may also involve the consideration of policy themes 
and matters of local concern, which may have potential implications for the 
policies of the Council. In the circumstances, subject to the rules detailed in 
section V.6 of this Protocol, Committee members and Lead Members who 
have been directly involved in policy development, may participate in the 
Committee’s policy development and/or review work.   

 
V.6 With the exception of Cabinet members who are required to attend the 

Committee to give evidence in accordance with section D of this Protocol, 
any Member at the meeting (not restricted to members of the Committee) 
with a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in a matter, may 
not take part in the discussion or remain in the meeting room or public gallery 
to observe the vote on the matter. 
 

  

Page 103 Agenda Item 13



June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 20 

W. Review of this 
Protocol 

This Protocol will be reviewed on an annual basis or more frequently, if 
experience, circumstances and legislation highlight that amendments are 
required. 
 

  

 

Page 104Agenda Item 13



June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 21 

           ANNEX 1 
 

COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (CCfA) FLOWCHART 
 
CCfA request – local residents have concerns about significant and persistent problems in their area – they approach the local ward 

Member - local ward Member may also on their initiative, initiate a CCfA and gather support from their local community 

 
 
First level response 

 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
Second level response 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Third level response 

 
 
 
  
 
 
Fourth level response 

 
  
  
 
 
 
  
 
 
Fifth level response 

 
 
  
 
 

In consultation with relevant Director, local ward Member considers 
whether to agree to champion or reject the CCfA - Log request 

Concern not resolved – as last resort, concern referred to Crime 
and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee   

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee rejects CCFA (see Committee’s Protocol 
for procedure) 

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee accepts CCfA and considers issue in 
accordance with Committee’s Protocol 

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee compiles report and recommendations 
to Cabinet/GAC, CSP etc. (refer to Committee’s 
Protocol) 

Local ward Member notified 

with written reasons 

Cabinet/GAC, CSP etc. consider recommendations 
and respond within 2 months, setting out reasons for 
any inaction 

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee considers and publishes responses to 
scrutiny recommendations 

Feedback to local ward Member  

Before agreeing, Director to 
undertake screening/filter 
checks (section 6 of Guide) 

Refuse to champion  and 
provide constituent/local ward 
Member with written reasons for 
refusal 

 

Agree to champion 

First attempt to resolve the concerns informally in consultation 
with relevant parties e.g. Lead Member, CSP etc. (section 11 of 
Guide) – Log attempt to resolve 
 

Concern resolved  

Page 105 Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 106



 
  
 

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\CDC and CSP Memorandum of 
Understanding July 2020.doc 

1 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE CRIME AND DISORDER 
(OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE AND THE DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM 
COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP 

Introduction 
 
1. The Council has a legal duty under Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to 

carry out all its various functions with regard to the need to prevent crime and disorder and 
reduce re-offending in its area.   

 
2. The Police and Justice Act 2006 and the Local Government and Public Involvement in 

Health Act 2007 grant the Council the power to scrutinise both crime and disorder matters 
through the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (the CSP).  The 
legislative powers are intended to enable the Council’s overview and scrutiny function to 
hold the CSP and other partner organisations to account for their performance, including 
their work with the Council, to meet specific local targets. 

 
3. The Councillor Calls for Action provide a ‘last resort’ mechanism for the Council’s overview 

and scrutiny function to try to resolve persistent local crime and disorder issues of genuine 
community concern, where all efforts by a local ward Councillor to find a solution through 
local action and discussion with the CSP etc, have been unsuccessful. 

 
4. In order for the exercise of overview and scrutiny powers to be effective, it is vital that the 

CSP and other partners and stakeholders are engaged in the process and share a common 
understanding of the Council’s overview and scrutiny aims.  This Memorandum of 
Understanding has therefore been developed to embody that understanding and sets out 
the rights and responsibilities that relate to the parties concerned. 

 
The CSP and main tasks 
 
5.(a) The CSP comprises seven statutory bodies who have a legal duty to work with other 

local agencies and organisations to develop and implement strategies to tackle crime 
and disorder, including anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting the local 
environment, as well as the misuse of drugs in their area:  
 
Dartford Borough Council 
Gravesham Borough Council 
Kent Police 
Kent County Council 
Kent Fire and Rescue Service 
Kent Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company  
Kent and Medway Clinical Commissioning Group 

 
(b) The CSP works with numerous other agencies and voluntary groups.  

(c) In order to identify and deliver on the priorities that matter the most to local 
communities, the CSP is required to carry out a number of main tasks: 

� preparing an annual strategic assessment which identifies the crime and 
community safety priorities in the area, through analysis of information provided by 
partner agencies an the community; 

� producing a partnership plan, detailing the approach for addressing priorities; 
� undertaking community consultation and engagement on crime and disorder 

issues; and 
� sharing information among the responsible authorities. 

Page 107 Agenda Item 13



 
  
 

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\CDC and CSP Memorandum of 
Understanding July 2020.doc 

2 

Aims of overview and scrutiny 
 

 6. To: 
 

(a) involve the responsible authorities, local people and community organisations, in 
overview and scrutiny activity; 

(b) develop a dialogue with the responsible authorities, service providers and other 
stakeholders external to the Council; 

(c) take up issues of concern to local people; 
(d) review whether the CSP’s goals are being achieved; and 
(e) examine what can be done to solve problems and enhance the CSP’s performance and 

achievement. 
 
Designated crime and disorder committee 
 
7. The Council’s designated crime and disorder committee under section 19(1) of the Police 

and Justice Act 2006, is the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee.  The 
Committee is independent of the CSP. 

 
8. There will be at least one ordinary meeting of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and 

Scrutiny) Committee in each municipal year in accordance with the Council’s calendar of 
meetings.  In addition, extraordinary meetings may be called as and when appropriate in 
accordance with the Council’s Procedure Rules detailed in its Standing Orders. 

 
9. The Committee’s Terms of Reference 
 

The overview and scrutiny of: 
(a) decisions and/or actions of the CSP and its partners, but only in so far as they relate 

to crime and disorder; 
(b) the CSP’s annual strategic assessment; 
(c) the CSP’s partnership plan; 
(d) community safety related local improvement targets measured through Local Area 

Agreements, Comprehensive Area Assessment and the Place Based Survey; 
(e) any other local crime and disorder matter related to the Council’s/Cabinet’s crime and 

disorder/community safety functions; and 
(f) the scrutiny of Councillor Calls for Action (on crime and disorder/community safety 

matters). 
 

Management of the Council’s crime and disorder/community safety functions 
 

10. The Council’s Strategic Director is responsible for the management of the Council’s crime 
and disorder/community safety functions.   

 
Council representatives on the CSP 
 
11. The Leader of the Council and Strategic Director are the Council’s nominated 

representatives on the CSP.  
  
CSP, responsible authorities named link officers and representatives  
 

12. The CSP, individual responsible authorities will assign a named link officer to liaise with the 
Council’s Member Services [refer to section 31 of this Memorandum of Understanding], to 
ensure that communication is swift and effective and that requests for information, 
responses to reports and/or recommendations and requests for CSP and responsible 
authorities’ representatives to attend meetings, are dealt with, within the timescales referred 
to in the Committee’s Protocol at Appendix A.  Contact details of the named link officers will 
be notified to the Council’s Member Services. 

Page 108Agenda Item 13



 
  
 

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\CDC and CSP Memorandum of 
Understanding July 2020.doc 

3 

 
13. If summoned to attend meetings of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 

Committee, the CSP’s representative will be its Chairman or Vice-Chairman. 
 
14. If summoned to attend meetings of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 

Committee, the nomination/appointment by the responsible authorities of representatives 
and substitutes as participants in the overview and scrutiny process, will be at the 
discretion of their governing bodies or as detailed in their constitutions.  

 
Underlying principles of crime and disorder overview and scrutiny 

 
15. The following underlying principles of overview and scrutiny will assist in securing 

effective outcomes and adding value: 
 
(a) Collaboration 

 
 community safety and freedom from crime and disorder for the people of the Borough of 

Dartford is dependant upon many factors, including the services provided in partnership 
by/with the CSP.  The CSP will work in partnership with the Crime and Disorder 
(Overview and Scrutiny) Committee to provide objective and effective scrutiny of crime 
and disorder in the Borough of Dartford.  This shared responsibility should be 
acknowledged in any crime and disorder overview and scrutiny activity undertaken; 

 increasingly, services are provided jointly or as a result of partnerships between the 
Council and other public sector organisations or other parties.  Overview and scrutiny 
activities should therefore also reflect shared priorities, find shared solutions and be of 
mutual benefit; 

 while overview and scrutiny should be constructive and challenging, it will only be 
successful if all partners work together considerately, within a climate of mutual respect, 
trust and good faith with an understanding and commitment to the CSP’s and Council’s 
crime and disorder aims and objectives.  

 
(b) Added Value 
 
 it is vital that overview and scrutiny brings something new to reviews/scrutiny of crime and 

disorder functions and does not duplicate the many other forms of performance 
management and inspection that exist for public service providers.  

 overview and scrutiny activities should make a distinct and positive impact and only be 
carried out where objective scrutiny/review by elected Councillors, will help progress to be 
made. 

 overview and scrutiny activities should have a clear purpose.  There should be a focus on 
crime reduction and improving the well-being of those who live and work in the Borough 
of Dartford. 

 the overview and scrutiny process should be proactive in seeking out issues to examine, 
that will add most value. 

 overview and scrutiny should be prepared to examine crime and disorder issues that 
cross service or agency boundaries and make appropriate recommendations to tackle 
such issues, whilst being mindful of potential implications for/on the CSP and/or other 
external organisations. 

 overview and scrutiny should aim to develop feasible recommendations, which provide 
value for money by securing benefits that outweigh the cost of implementation. 

  overview and scrutiny will be focused on improving services and service provision for the 
people of the Borough of Dartford and will concentrate on outputs that are intended to 
help improve community safety and reduce the fear of crime in the Borough.  

Page 109 Agenda Item 13



 
  
 

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\CDC and CSP Memorandum of 
Understanding July 2020.doc 

4 

 
(c) Clarity 

 
Overview and scrutiny of the CSP’s crime and disorder functions: 

 
 should be a transparent process which encourages open and honest discussion; 
 should be well planned and timely; 
 should be of particular issues and time-limited; 
 should focus on strategic priorities and concerns, with a strategic view of performance 

usually aligned to key performance targets. 
 

(d) Knowledge 
 
 overview and scrutiny reports must be evidence-based in order to provide credible 

conclusions and recommendations; 
 although the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee will want to be 

informed, the overview and scrutiny process is not an ‘expert’ review/scrutiny of the 
CSP’s crime and disorder function; 

 the overview and scrutiny process should be impartial, in that it should be driven by the 
evidence, rather than by a particular standpoint. 

 
(e) Accessibility 

 
 it is a fundamental role of the overview and scrutiny process to ensure that there is full 

and equal access to the democratic process, through public involvement and 
engagement; 

 the views and ideas of service users (and non-users), service providers and organisations 
and other agencies with an interest in the subject under review/scrutiny, are all valuable 
in effective scrutiny – overview and scrutiny should involve all stakeholders and take 
account of views of service users and the public, with particular efforts to engage groups 
that are harder to reach; 

 constructive engagement and clear lines of communication should enable a two-way flow 
of information between crime and disorder overview and scrutiny and all those involved, 
including feedback of results. 

 
Providing information to the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee 

 
16. The CSP, responsible authorities and the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 

Committee, will respect the requirements of the Data Protection Act 2018.  The provision of 
information to/for overview and scrutiny will be governed by relevant legislation and 
established protocols for the sharing of data. 

 
17. To facilitate the overview and scrutiny process and in accordance with reg.4 of the Local 

Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees)(England) Regulations 2012, requested 
information will be pro-actively provided by the CSP and responsible authorities (acting 
individually or collectively).   

 
Notice of required attendance at committee meetings  
 
18. Forward planning of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee’s annual 

work programme will normally ensure the provision of reasonable notice of requests for 
information/the submission of written reports and/or required attendance at Committee 
meetings, of representatives of the responsible authorities. 

 
19. The CSP and responsible authorities will be informed in advance by the Council’s Member 

Services, of overview and scrutiny exercises (including their scope).   

Page 110Agenda Item 13



 
  
 

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\CDC and CSP Memorandum of 
Understanding July 2020.doc 

5 

 
20. Dates and times of meetings of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 

Committee, agendas, minutes and reports, will be circulated by the Council’s Member 
Services, to the named link officer of the CSP and the responsible authorities. 

 
21. Subject to 14 clear days’ notice (i.e.14 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to 

midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and 
information being provided as to the nature and scope of the overview and scrutiny, 
representatives of the CSP and the responsible authorities and/or other organisations 
working with the CSP, may be invited under Section 21(13)(b) of the Local Government Act 
2000 to attend the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee meetings, to 
give evidence and/or answer questions.   

 
22. Representatives of the CSP and the responsible authorities and/or other organisations 

working with the CSP should be willing to engage constructively with overview and scrutiny 
and attend meetings when invited. 

 
Access to information  

 
23. Reports, which are presented to the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 

Committee, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk and circulated 
to the CSP and the responsible authorities’ named link officers, 5 clear days before the 
Committee meeting. 

 
Style and conduct of committee meetings 

 
24. Meetings of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee will be conducted 

in accordance with the principles and procedures set out in the Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules and Access to information Procedure Rules of the Council’s Standing 
Orders and in accordance with the Committee’s Protocol at Appendix A.   

 
Reports and recommendations of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee 

 
25. The CSP and responsible authorities and co-ordinating body may be required by the Crime 

and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee to have regard to the Committee’s 
Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations (Section 9FF(2) of the Local 
Government Act 2000). 

 
Monitoring recommendations 

 
26. Agreed actions will form the basis against which performance of the CSP and responsible 

authorities will be measured by the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee.   

 
Local improvement targets 

 
27. The Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee may scrutinise performance 

and delivery of the Kent County Council’s KA2 – LAA crime and disorder/community safety 
local improvement targets.  

Page 111 Agenda Item 13



 
  
 

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\CDC and CSP Memorandum of 
Understanding July 2020.doc 

6 

 
Councillor Calls for Action 

 
28. The CSP and responsible authorities (either collectively or individually) will co-operate on 

matters related to Councillor Calls for Action.  
 

Resolving disputes about this Memorandum of Understanding 
 

29. If the CSP and responsible authorities (acting collectively or individually) believe that this 
Memorandum of Understanding is not being adhered to, the issue should be referred to the 
Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee for consideration and decision.  
The Committee’s decision will be final. 

 
Review of this Memorandum of Understanding 

 
30. This Memorandum of Understanding will be reviewed jointly, on an annual basis or more 

frequently, if experience and circumstances highlight that amendments may need to be 
made. 

 
Complaints against the CSP 
 
31. Complaints against the CSP will be dealt with under the CSP’s complaints procedure.  

Complaints relating to CSP activities submitted to the CSP against individual responsible 
authorities will be dealt with by the individual responsible authorities under their respective 
complaints procedure. The response to the complaint will be copied to the chairman of the 
CSP. 

 
Availability of support 

 
32. Further advice or information on any aspect of this Memorandum of Understanding or on 

overview and scrutiny at Dartford Borough Council, is available from Member Services by 
emailing memberservices@dartford.gov.uk or telephoning the Member Services Manager 
on 01322 343430. 

 
 
 
 

Page 112Agenda Item 13



                

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
29 July 2020 

 

 
WORK PROGRAMME: 2020- 21 MUNICIPAL YEAR and BEYOND 

 
 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 To review the rolling Work Programme for the 2020-21 municipal year and 

beyond agreed by Members on 12 February 2020 [Min. No. 29 refers], in 
light of the corona virus pandemic and subsequent government lock-down 
measures.  

 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
  
2.1  That the updated draft Work Plan (attached as Appendix A to this report) be 

approved, subject to any further amendments/additions Members may wish 
to make in Committee, with the guidance of the Strategic Director (External 
Services). 

 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 
3.1  The Committee is responsible for setting its own work programme under the 

terms of its Protocol [Section K1-3 dated June 2019].   
 

3.2     An updated draft Work Plan is attached at Appendix A to this report for 
Members consideration, in light of the corona virus pandemic and 
subsequent government lock-down measures, since Members last met on 
12 February 2020. 
 

3.3     The Committee will receive a Europol Covid Assessment from Kent Police at 
their meeting on 29 July 2020 to help inform Member discussion of the 
current updated draft Work Plan (Appendix A attached). 
 

3.4     Topics noted by Members on 12 February [Min. No. 29 refers] for possible 
inclusion in the Committee’s rolling Work Programme  going forward, but as 
yet unallocated, following the impact of COVID-19 and subsequent 
government work restrictions include: 
 
(i) Update on telephone fraud aimed at elderly and vulnerable (add 

COVID-19 context) – it is recommended that this be added to the 
Work Plan for the February 2021 meeting; 

 
(ii) Update on enforcement measures taken by agencies to combat 

‘County Lines’ activity by criminal gangs [Min. No. 25 of February 
2019 refers] – it is recommended that this be added to the Work Plan 
for the February 2021 meeting; 

 
 

Page 113 Agenda Item 14



                 

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
29 July 2020 

 
 

 
 

(iii) Renew invitation to Kent Public Health to present on the dangers of 
Nitrous Oxide (NO) inhalation – it is recommended that this not be 
pursued unless/until Public Health England revises its assessment of 
harm. 

 
 

4.   Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
4.1     Scrutiny of the responsible local authorities [in the discharge of their crime 

and disorder functions] through the provision of an agreed Work Plan, should 
lead to an increase in public confidence, a reduction in anti-social behaviour 
(ASB) and help to meet the Safer Community Corporate Objectives (SC1 
and SC2).  

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 
 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment Reduction in the incidents of crime 
and disorder and ASB in Dartford 
Town Centre and environs. 

 
 

6.   Appendix 
 

Appendix A: Updated draft rolling Work Programme for 2020-21 municipal 
cycle and beyond; 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
 
Documents 
consulted 

Date File 
Ref 

Report  
Author 

Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

Crime and 
Disorder (O&S) 
Agenda and 
Minutes  Feb. 
2020, ToRs and 
Protocol 

July 2020  David Hook 
01322 343276 

Democratic  
Services 
SD(ES) 

N/A 

 
 
 

Page 114Agenda Item 14



Appendix A 

 

CRIME and DISORDER (Overview & Scrutiny) COMMITTEE 
  

Updated Draft Work Programme for the 2020-21 Municipal 
Cycle and Beyond 

 
Background: 
 
On a statutory basis to: 
 

 Consider the Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership 
(D&G CSP’s) annual Strategic Assessment (SA) document; 
 

 Consider the D&G CSP’s Community Safety Strategy and annual 
Refresh documents. 

 

On a discretionary basis and with the prior agreement of the 
Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership as 
appropriate, to review the contributions made by the Partnership’s 
agencies to its aims. 
 
 
Plus: 
 

 To consider the CSP’s mid-term Performance Report; 

 To receive updates from the Council’s Kent Police and Crime Panel 
(PCP) representative and to note the Panel’s Minutes as appropriate; 

 To receive Dartford Town Against Crime (D-TAC) Annual Review; 

 To consider topics drawn-down via the Chairman on an ad-hoc basis 
with the agreement of the Managing Director or Strategic Director 
(External Services); 

 To consider discretionary topics as agreed by the Committee under the 
guidance of the Strategic Director (External Services) 
 

The Committee’s Work Programme is subject to review at each meeting. 
Discretionary items may be rescheduled and new items added in accordance 
with the Committee’s wishes and the guidance of the Strategic Director 
(External Services).  
 
An updated draft Work Plan for the 2020-21 municipal cycle and beyond is 
set out overleaf for Members’ further consideration given the onset of COVID-
19 and subsequent Government measures and working restrictions. 
 

Page 115 Agenda Item 14



Appendix A 

 

 

Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) Committee 
 

Updated Draft Work Programme for the 2019-20 Municipal Year  
and Beyond 

 
 

2020-21: Summer Meeting - 29 July 2020  
  

 Europol COVID-19 Assessment [addition] 

 Dartford Town Against Crime (D-TAC) Annual Update including Shop 
Safe Scheme; 

 CSP Performance Report – July 2020; 

 CSP Community Safety Strategy (2019-2022) 2020 Refresh; 

 Kent & Medway Police and Crime Panel (PCP) Update; 

 Committee’s Annual Report for 2019-20 Municipal Year; 

 Review Committee’s current rolling Work Programme for 2020-21 
Municipal Year and Beyond 
 

2020-21: Winter Meeting – 10 February 2021 
 

 PCP Update; 

 CSP Strategic Assessment 2020; 

 Update on telephone fraud aimed at elderly and vulnerable including 
COVID-19 context [proposed]; 

 Update on enforcement measures taken by agencies to combat 
‘County Lines’ activity by criminal gangs [proposed]; 

 Draft Committee Work Programme and Timetable for 2021-22 
Municipal Year and Beyond 
 

2021-22 Summer Meeting – 28 July 2021 
 

 Community Safety Plan (2019-2022) 2021 Refresh 

 PCP Update 

 D-TAC Annual Report  

 CSP Performance Report – July 2021 

 Committee’s Annual Report for 2020-21 Municipal Year 

 Review Committee’s Rolling Work Programme for 2021-22 and Beyond 
 

2021/22 Winter Meeting – 9 February 2022 
 

 CSP Strategic Assessment 2021 

 PCP Update 

 Draft Committee Work Programme & Timetable for 2022-23 Municipal 
Year and Beyond 
 
 
 

Democratic Services July 2020  

Page 116Agenda Item 14



Document is Restricted

Page 117 Agenda Item A
By virtue of paragraph(s) 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 12 February 2020
	7 Europol Covid Assessment
	8 Dartford Town Against Crime (D-TAC) Annual Report (including Shop Safe Scheme)
	9 Performance
	10 2020 Refresh of Dartford and Gravesham CSP Community Safety Strategy (2019-22)
	Item 10 Appendix A Dartford-and-Gravesham-CSP-Strategy-2019-2022
	Heading
	Objectives
	Governance
	Priority 1
	Priority 2
	Priority 3
	Priority 4
	Key Contacts


	11 Regulation 9 Notice
	Plan

	13 Committee's Annual Report for 2019-20 Municipal Year
	Appendix A CrimeDisorder 2019-20 AnnualReport dh.FINAL
	Appendix B TORs
	Appendix C Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol June 2019
	MKS.final Appendix D - CDC and CSP Memorandum of Understanding July 2020

	14 Review Committee's Work Plan for 2020-21 Municipal Year and Beyond
	SG.amd.Appendix A

	A Dartford & Gravesham CSP Quarterly Performance Report JULY 2020

